"We could just be what we wanted to be": The role of leisure and r	recreation in supporting
women's mental health during COVID-19	

by

Lauren Ashley Ray

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Faculty of Kinesiology, Sport, and Recreation
University of Alberta

©Lauren Ashley Ray, 2022

Abstract

Women's mental health has been disproportionately impacted by the COVID-19 (C19) pandemic. Women have experienced higher rates of unemployment, domestic violence, caregiving responsibilities and reduced access to social supports because of public health measures related to C19. It is well established that leisure and recreation can support mental health, yet, the role of leisure and recreation in supporting women's mental health during C19 is relatively unknown. In partnership with the Canadian Mental Health Association-Yukon, the purpose of this community-based study was to understand how leisure and recreation might support women's mental health in Whitehorse, Yukon Territory during C19. Twelve selfidentifying women between the ages of 22-65 years participated in one-on-one semi-structured interviews. A participatory data analysis approach was employed and the findings are represented by five themes: (a) focus on yourself, (b) facilitating feel-good emotions, (c) connection and support networks, (d) navigating the northern context, and (e) women-identified opportunities. Results from this study suggest leisure and recreation offer various processes that assist women with managing stressful situations that in turn support their mental health. These processes include promoting self-determination, generating positive emotions, and strengthening connectedness. This research presents women-identified barriers and solutions to participating in leisure and recreation in northern Canada, mapping out actionable steps to further support women's mental health in northern contexts.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Lauren Ray. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, "Women's Mental Health, COVID-19 and Therapeutic Recreation in Yukon Territory" Pro00109096, May 20, 2021.

Dedication

For Chris...I think you'd be proud.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to extend my profound gratitude to the members of the community advisory board: Tiffane Tasane, Christine McKee, Aja Mason, Gillian Kirk, and Kelly Tobalt. Without your time, thoughtfulness, and contributions, the project simply would not be nearly as relevant to the community of Whitehorse.

Second, I would like to thank all of the women who participated in the project. Your brave words shared stories are the essence of this work.

To my supervisory committee: Dr. Tristan Hopper, thank you so much for your incredible guidance and support throughout the duration of this project. Your insights and expertise were essential for my learning and development. Dr. Shinarto Kono, thank you for your time, support, and effort as an arm's length committee member.

To my supervisor, Dr. Tara-Leigh McHugh, I cannot thank enough. The balanced hand you guided me with was appreciated in more ways than you can imagine.

To my family, your words of encouragement have always been needed. I would never have the work ethic I do if it weren't for you.

To Marshal. I hope to have the perspective and humility you carry yourself with. Thank you for your steady support and endless reminders of what is important in life.

Finally, a massive thank you to the Canadian Mental Health Association, Mitacs Accelerate program, and Social Sciences Humanities and Research Council for your financial contributions.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Preface	iii
Dedication	iv
Acknowledgements	V
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	1
Introduction	1
Women's Mental Health and COVID-19	3
Leisure, Recreation, and Mental Health	6
Leisure, Recreation, Mental Health and COVID-19	13
CHAPTER 2: METHODS	17
Guiding Perspective & Researcher Position	17
Ethical Considerations	18
Research Approach	19 20
Participants	21
Data Generation	23
Data Analysis	24
Quality Criteria	28
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	32
Focus on yourself	32
Facilitating feel-good emotions	35
Connection and support networks	38
Navigating the northern context	41
Women-identified opportunities	43
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	47
Limitations and future directions	55
Conclusion	58
References	59
APPENDIX A	
Ethics Approval	75
APPENDIX B	76

Consent Form	
APPENDIX C	78
Community Advisory Board Letter of Invitation	
APPENDIX D	79
Recruitment Poster	79
APPENDIX E	80
Interview Guide	80
APPENDIX F	81
Data Analysis Team Letter of Invitation	81
APPENDIX G	82
Data Analysis Team Instruction Materials	82

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

COVID-19 (C19) has fashioned a collective experience; one felt and understood by all. Global citizens can all appreciate the stress and challenges C19 has presented to us. Since the inception of C19, one in four Canadians have screened positive for symptoms of depression, anxiety, or post-traumatic stress disorder (Statistics Canada, 2021). The World Health Organization (2019) defines mental health as "a state of well-being in which the individual realizes his or her abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively, and fruitfully and is able to contribute to his or her community" (p.1). Mental health affects one's overall health, as well as one's quality of life (Canadian Mental Health Association, 2015).

In Canada, women's mental health has been disproportionately impacted by C19 (Canadian Women's Foundation, 2020; Charnock et al., 2021) due to greater losses of employment, increased caregiving responsibilities, and higher rates of pre-existing depression and anxiety (Mood Disorders Society of Canada, 2009). However, it remains relatively unknown how the C19 pandemic has impacted women's mental health in northern Canada. Residing in northern Canada presents an environment for unique experiences with mental health. Prolonged winters, limited daylight, and a general lack of accessible mental health services (McLennan et al., 2020) are additional factors to consider. Young women living in remote areas of northern Canada in particular are impacted by these factors including young women living in remote areas (McLennan et al., 2020).

¹ Throughout this proposal the term mental health will be used. However, mental "illness", "psychological distress" and mental health "recovery" are also used throughout the literature referring to a clinical population. When referring to pre-existing work the authors original language will be used.

While important to understand how women's mental health has been impacted in northern Canada, of greater importance is understanding how we can support them during C19. Leisure and recreation (e.g., physical activity, creative pursuits, etc.) are known to positively impact women's mental health (Parry, 2013). By way of strengthening self-determination, increasing connectedness, engaging in meaningful experiences, and assisting with stress-coping skills, leisure and recreation may play an important role in supporting women's mental health during C19 (Fenton et al., 2017; Iwasaki et al., 2015; Iwasaki & Mannell, 2000; Moxham et al., 2015; Newman et al., 2014; O'Connell, 1984). Leisure can be defined as, "experiences that are pleasant in expectation, experience, or recollection; intrinsically motivated; optional in nature; autonomous and engaging" (Hood & Carruthers, 2007, p.300). Recreation can be generally understood as any experience "that results from freely chosen participation in physical, social, intellectual, creative and spiritual pursuits that enhance individual and community wellbeing" (Framework for Recreation in Canada, 2008, p.8). A more detailed description of these concepts will be described ahead.

The ensuing literature review outlines the current understanding of how women's mental health has been impacted during C19, setting the contextual stage for the latter half of the review. Here, the mechanisms by which leisure and recreation can support mental health are highlighted as well as how leisure and recreation are currently supporting mental health in various populations during C19. This literature provides justification for this study which aims to understand how leisure and recreation might support women's mental health in Whitehorse, Yukon Territory during C19.

Women's Mental Health and COVID-19

In the early stages of the C19 pandemic, resources were allocated to address physical health implications and mental health was broadly overlooked (United Nations, 2020). Mental health has been outlined by numerous agencies, organizations, researchers, and political leaders as deeply impacted by C19 (Canadian Women's Foundation, 2020; United Nations, 2020; Xiong et al., 2020). Indeed, mental health experiences are changing across society as a result of the pandemic. For example, Xiong et al. (2020) highlighted increased rates of anxiety, depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, psychological distress, and stress in the general population across eight different countries due to C19. Likewise, Asmundson et al. (2020) confirmed individuals living with pre-existing mental health conditions are experiencing greater symptoms of stress than individuals without pre-existing mental health conditions as a result of C19. They also noted individuals with specific mental health diagnosis, such as pre-existing anxiety disorders (e.g., generalized anxiety disorder, social anxiety disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, or obsessivecompulsive disorder) are reporting greater experiences of stress than individuals living with mood disorders (e.g., major depressive disorder or bipolar disorder). Additionally, socioeconomic implications from public health measures are resulting in increased rates of loneliness and suicide attempts (McIntyre & Lee, 2020; Palgi et al., 2020). It is clear that C19 has impacted the mental health of many populations across all nations and must be addressed immediately.

While experiences with mental health are impacting society at large, women have experienced higher rates of unemployment, domestic violence, caregiving responsibilities and have reduced access to social supports that typically offset these factors (Canadian Women's Foundation, 2020). Indeed, women continue to experience worse mental health than men in Canada during C19 (Statistics Canada, 2020). In a study focused on North American residents

during C19, Zheng et al. (2021) examined the relationship between pandemic-related stressors and psychological distress. They found women to be at greater risk for experiencing depressive symptoms compared to men. In their review, Aknin et al. (2022) highlighted a significant rise in psychological distress reported in females and parents of children under 5 years of age. Further, Muro et al. (2021) conducted a longitudinal study assessing the psychological impact of the C19 lockdown on Spanish women. They found increased prevalence of anxiety and depression in this group after 40 days of lockdown measures. Lastly, experiences of loneliness during C19 are more common in women than men, as shown in a Canadian study sampling over 3000 individuals (Wickens et al., 2021). Broche-Perez et al. (2020) also found that women are more likely to report feelings of fear related to C19. Overall, women's mental health has been disproportionately impacted by C19 compared to the broader population.

Much of the literature regarding women's mental health during C19 focuses on mothers. For example, in their survey of over 600 Canadian mothers of children between 0-8 years of age, Cameron et al. (2020) reported that maternal anxiety and depression sat at 36.27% and 33.16%, respectively; significantly higher than previously reported. Anxiety and depression remain of increasing concern for mothers during C19. One study aimed to understand the impact of C19 on psychological distress for women residing in Quebec; women who were pregnant during C19 shared greater experiences of distress and psychiatric symptoms, specifically depressive and anxiety-related symptoms (Berthelot et al., 2020). In fact, women who are pregnant are at particular risk for developing mental health issues during C19 (Almeida et al., 2020). Lebel et al. (2020) assessed anxiety and depression symptoms in close to 2000 pregnant women during C19. Authors found that 57% of women reported anxiety symptoms and 37% reported symptoms of depression. Multiple international studies have demonstrated a marked increase in anxiety and

depression in pregnant and postpartum women during C19 (e.g., Ahmad & Vismara, 2021; Hessami et al., 2020; Iyengar et al., 2021; López-Morales et al., 2021; Puertas-Gonzalez et al., 2021). These findings suggest that mothers, especially pregnant and postpartum mothers, have been experiencing mounting difficulties with respect to their mental health during C19. Given that many women in society are mothers, it is important to understand how C19 has impacted women's mental health.

Some authors are finding that changes in physical activity participation is also impacting women's mental health. For example, through their online survey of 900 women, Davenport et al. (2020) found that pregnant and postpartum women exhibited greater rates of anxiety and depression during C19. However, they also showed that women who were participating in physical activity had lower scores of anxiety and depression. Similarly, Nienhuis and Lesser (2020) noted that women who experienced changes to their childcare services reported greater generalized anxiety than women who experienced no changes to childcare services. Moreover, women who participated in less physical activity due to these changes in childcare services, also reported greater rates of anxiety. These studies suggest physical activity (i.e., leisure and recreation) may play a role in how women experience their mental health during the pandemic.

Though the initial impacts of C19 on women's mental health have been explored in Canada, there is a dearth of knowledge with respect to women who reside specifically in northern Canada, such as Yukon Territory. A recent survey (Yukon Bureau of Statistics, 2020) found that over half of Yukon residents felt their mental health was "somewhat or much worse" since the inception of the pandemic. Yukon women specifically reported greater experiences of anxiety in the survey. Yukon residents have also reported feeling "extremely concerned" about their overall health (33%) during C19 (Larochelle-Côté & Uppal, 2020). However, with respect

to mental health before and during C19, the Public Health Agency of Canada reported individuals who reside in urban areas to have "somewhat or much worse" mental health compared to those residing in rural areas (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2021). Ultimately, little is known about the impact of C19 on Yukon resident's mental health, even less-so on women. Therefore, this project aims to center the experiences of women residing in Whitehorse, Yukon Territory.

Leisure, Recreation, and Mental Health

Leisure and recreation are known to improve experiences with mental health. For example, Iwasaki et al. (2015) highlighted the role leisure plays in fostering an inspired and engaged life for individuals living with mental illness. A comprehensive review of the theoretical underpinnings of leisure and recreation is outside of the scope of this review. However, it must be acknowledged that differences do exist between the two and a working definition for the purpose of this project will be described. At present, no single definition exists for leisure. Rather a consensus of general characteristics has been outlined. As noted above, leisure can be understood broadly as, "those experiences that are pleasant in expectation, experience, or recollection; intrinsically motivated; optional in nature; autonomous and engaging" (Hood & Carruthers, 2007, p. 300). According to Anderson and Heyne (2012), there are key elements that constitute a positive leisure experience; it should be pleasurable, engaging, intrinsically motivated, develop skill competency, and, autonomously chosen or non-obligatory. Often marked as a "state of mind", or "a meaningful experience", the theoretical underpinnings of leisure are slightly more abstract and typically include theories such as flow theory outlined by Mihalyi Czikszentmihalyi in 1975. Therefore, for the purpose of this work, the term "leisure"

will refer to experiences rooted in the key elements outlined above by Anderson and Heyne (2012).

Recreation is more concrete than its abstract sister, leisure (McCarville & MacKay, 2013; McLean et al., 2019). Recreation typically refers to "activities" and focuses on the functional outputs derived from activities (e.g., socialization, fitness) (McLean et al., 2019). Recreation is often structured, organized, and physical (e.g., basketball, rock climbing). However, the Framework for Recreation in Canada (2015) affords a more holistic understanding, where recreation is considered "the experience that results from freely chosen participation in physical, social, intellectual, creative and spiritual pursuits that enhance individual and community wellbeing" (p.8). This will be used as the working definition of "recreation" throughout this work. Scholars have identified over 600 mechanisms of action regarding how leisure and recreation activities affect health (Fancourt et al., 2021). However, with respect to mental health, common avenues for improving mental health include strengthening self-determination and connectedness (e.g., Coleman & Iso-Ahola, 1993), generating meaningful experiences (e.g., Iwasaki, et al., 2015), and improving stress-coping skills (Iwasaki, 2001). The ensuing literature discusses these processes in relation to experiences with mental health.

It is well established that self-determination and connectedness are highly important in fostering positive mental health (Balkir et al., 2013; Sato, 2001). In the context of leisure and recreation, self-determination refers to an individual's ability to make decisions about their own life (Caldwell, 2005; Dattilo et al., 1998) and connectedness refers to a holistic connection to personal, communal, spiritual, and cultural aspects (Iwasaki et al., 2018). Caldwell (2005) has gone so far as to suggest, "people who take personal responsibility for and are active agents in their development are the healthiest" (p.20). Self-determination is crucial to experiencing

autonomy (Newman et al., 2014) and connectedness is crucial to experiencing relatedness (Sato, 2001); both key factors in preventing mental health issues (World Health Organization, 2019).

Leisure and recreation provide a vehicle to experience self-determination and connectedness. For example, Hood and Carruthers' (2007) seminal Leisure and Well-being Model (LWBM) provide a useful framework for illustrating the relationship between leisure and self-determination. This model aims to achieve well-being through enhanced leisure experiences and personal resources. In this model, one contributor to overall well-being is mental health. Well-being is often used in tandem with mental health, but differences exist in the literature (Keller, 2019). Hood and Carruthers suggest a key component of well-being is selfdetermination. By strengthening personal resources through enhanced leisure experiences, selfdetermination increases and well-being can be achieved. Recently, Fancourt et al. (2021) conducted a narrative review on all documented mechanisms pertaining to improving health through leisure engagement. Specifically, they developed the "Multi-level Leisure Mechanisms Framework" (MLMF) for leisure scholars to use as a theoretical guide in their research. This model includes psychological, biological, social, and behavioural processes, as well as health behaviours. Notably, they identified that an increased sense of autonomy and individual choice coincide with psychological and behavioural health benefits, respectively. Similarly, Australian researchers Taylor et al. (2017) used participation in a therapeutic recreation recovery camp to examine the impact of leisure and recreation on one's self-determination. They reported increases in self-determination were achieved through an increase in self-awareness and decision-making power. Lastly, Moxham et al. (2015) found participation in a pilot therapeutic recreation mental health recovery camp was also associated with increases in self-determination, self-confidence, and symptom management. C19 has removed many traditional outlets women

typically turn to support their mental health (e.g., physical activity (Nienhuis & Lesser, 2020)). Therefore, evoking a greater sense of self-determination through participation in leisure and recreation may be important for supporting women's mental health during this time.

Iwasaki et al. (2018) outlined the importance of leisure in strengthening connectedness in stating, "above all, leisure can provide a context/space where people can maintain or promote a meaningful, connected life" (p.31). Similarly, Fenton et al.'s (2018) integrative review also underscored the role of recreation in generating experiences of social connectedness by increasing one's social network, social skills, socials interactions, and social inclusion. Likewise, through their Halifax-based Recreation for Mental Health Project, Lauckner et al. (2018) highlighted an association between the development of self-management strategies through leisure experiences and increasing self-determination. Additionally, this work underscored the importance of having a strong social component for individuals to feel connected before they participate in leisure and recreation. Fancourt et al. (2021) also identified through their MLMF model that leisure engagement can provide an opportunity to increase social contact, enhance social engagement, support social bonding and build social capital. Depression and loneliness are on the rise due to C19 (Palgi et al., 2020); therefore, increasing feelings of connectedness may be important for women during C19.

In addition to strengthening self-determination and connectedness, mental health can also be positively impacted by meaningful experiences (Iwasaki et al., 2015, 2018). Meaningful experiences can be defined as the process of someone discovering and deriving meaning from participation in an activity (Morgan & Farsides, 2009). Prominent scholars have documented the connection between leisure and recreation in generating meaningful experiences in the context of mental health. For example, Iwasaki et al. (2015) detailed the role of leisure in producing

meaning for individuals living with mental illness in the United States. They concluded leisure provides a safe, stable, and meaningful environment for persons with mental illness to be inspired and engaged in their lives. Stated by one participant in the project, "leisure gives me strength. It makes me stronger. In doing all this, I'm getting self-esteem. I'm full of hope and empowerment. And I can give hope to other people" (p.550). This pivotal study led to the development of Iwasaki et al.'s (2018) meaning-making model. This model provides a framework to conceptualize leisure's role in meaningful engagement, and outlines five contributions of leisure including living a: (1) joyful life, (2) connected life, (3) discovered life, (4) composed life, and (5) an empowered life. Through this model, one can envision how engaging in meaningful leisure and recreation can support women's mental health during C19. White et al. (2020) also reported on the importance of "finding meaning" through leisure and recreation for individuals living with mental illness. Participants found leisure and recreation to be meaningful when they were able to pursue an interest, contribute something, or be with other people. Fancourt et al. (2021) also documented a connection between engagement in leisure and improved psychological health by enhancing meaning in one's life. This literature surmises the importance of meaningful experiences in supporting mental health and presents an opening to support women who are experiencing changes to their mental health due to C19.

Lastly, in addition to strengthening self-determination, connectedness, and meaningful experiences, leisure and recreation can improve stress-coping (Coleman & Iso-Ahola, 1993). It is estimated that 75-85% of all health problems are related to stress (Seaward, 2014). Seaward (2014) describes stress as, "the experience of a perceived threat to one's mental, physical, or spiritual well-being, resulting from a series of physiological responses or adaptations" (p.3). Common mental health issues related to prolonged stress are depression, anxiety, and substance

abuse (Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, 2021). As highlighted above, anxiety and depression are becoming of increasing concern for women during C19. Additionally, Asmudson et al. (2020) found that individuals living with pre-existing anxiety or mood disorders reported greater rates of stress-related to C19. Thus, the ability to cope with stress positively during C19 is crucial in supporting mental health.

It is well documented that leisure assists with coping with stress (Iwasaki, 2001, 2005; Iwasaki & Mannell, 2000; Mannell, 2007). Iwasaki's (2001) study conducted among Canadian students aimed to compare general-coping strategies (e.g., creating a to-do list) with leisurecoping strategies (e.g., connecting with a friend). Authors found that leisure-coping strategies were useful in reducing stress by increasing a sense of empowerment, enhancing mood and, establishing social support networks. They stated, "leisure coping strategies provided more positive effects on the outcome indicators in dealing with a variety of stressful events than general coping strategies" (p. 194). This work reaffirms the previously mentioned processes (i.e., self-determination, connectedness) as strong avenues to engage in successful coping. They also noted that these strategies were more impactful in situations where individuals felt they had less control over their stressful situation. C19 presents many stressors that women have little control over (e.g., public health measures), suggesting it may be a good context to deploy leisure coping strategies. Moreover, engagement in leisure activities has also supported coping with stress by increasing resiliency and building psychological strength (Fancourt et al., 2021; Iwasaki et al., 2005; Lincoln, 2021).

Finally, with respect to stress coping, Kleiber et al. (2002) explored the relationship of leisure in recovering from a negative life event (e.g., natural disasters). They highlighted that leisure functions four-fold in this instance; leisure buffers the impact of a life event by creating a

space to distance oneself from the issue, leisure generates optimism and hope for the future, leisure creates a sense of "normalcy", and leisure creates a space for personal transformation. This work is highly relevant to the C19 pandemic. Society at large is experiencing a "negative life event" that is highly disruptive to all bases of normalcy. Leisure and recreation thus should be considered as an avenue to increase stress-coping skills for women in order to support their mental health during C19.

Leisure scholars have previously addressed how leisure and recreation has supported women's mental health pre-pandemic times. For example, in their chapter titled, *Leisure*, *Women*, *and Gender*, Diana Parry details leisure's role in supporting women's mental health three-fold: (1) by increasing a sphere of sociability, (2) creating survival strategies and, (3) preventing identity theft. The sphere of sociability refers to one's ability to make new friendships through leisure pursuits, leading to increased social capital. Survival strategies refer to leisure creating opportunities from women to cope with and process negative emotions, as well as create a sense of normalcy. Lastly, preventing identity theft speaks to leisure's ability to create a context for women to resist gender roles, focus on themselves, and create a sense of identity (Parry, 2013). These three mechanisms demonstrate the specific role of leisure in supporting women's mental health and are important conceptualizations for working with women during the pandemic.

Leisure and recreation activities have also been utilized to support the mental health of women experiencing challenging situations, such as women diagnosed with breast cancer (Kim et al., 2021; Parry, 2007; Petruseviciene et al., 2018), experiencing infertility (Glover & Parry, 2008), or navigating menopause (Parry & Shaw, 1999). More specifically, participation in leisure and recreation has been shown to provide reductions in anxiety and depressive-symptoms for

women living in stressful situations (Pondé & Santana, 2000). Leisure has also been conceptualized as analogous to "self-care", where women engage in leisure for benefits to their health and wellbeing (Son & Hutchinson, 2009) and to "overcome gender role expectations through acts of resistance" (Petty & Trussell, 2021, p. 334). Through her multiple integrative reviews, spanning over 20 years of leisure scholarship in relation to women, Karla Henderson has detailed how leisure literature has progressed from centering a women's "lack of entitlement" to leisure time, to women instead using leisure as a means of "resistance and empowerment" (Henderson & Gibson, 2013, p. 131). Further, women use leisure as means to improve their physical/mental health and build social support networks (Henderson & Gibson, 2013). This research is important to consider when seeking an understanding of how women might perceive their participation in leisure and recreation during C19, given the increase in caregiving responsibilities, changes to employment, and overall shift in social context created by C19.

Leisure, Recreation, Mental Health and COVID-19

Scholars and scientists have only just begun documenting how participation in leisure and recreation has supported mental health during the pandemic. Mirroring existing leisure literature, common avenues for supporting mental health during C19 include increasing social connectedness (Cosma et al., 2021; Rivera-Torres et al., 2021), creating meaning in life (Cruyt et al., 2021), and increasing stress coping capabilities (Jackson et al., 2021). For example, Rodríguez-Rey et al. (2020) addressed the psychological impact of C19 on the general adult population in Spain. They found those who engaged in leisure activities reported lower stress, anxiety, and depression scores compared to those who did not. Recent studies (e.g., Rivera-Torres et al., 2021; Wright et al., 2021) have also highlighted how leisure and recreation are

supporting mental health in more vulnerable populations, such as older adults and adolescents. For example, Wright et al. (2021) detailed how physical activity supported the adolescent population during C19 by reducing anxiety and depression.

Research has also been conducted with the general population, such as Cruyt et al.'s (2021) work examining how participation in meaningful activities affected mental health in Belgian adults during the C19 lockdown phase. They found a bi-directional relationship between participation in meaningful activities and mental health during the lockdown, whereby the more meaningful activities one engaged in, the better their mental health. Likewise, through their national survey, Shen et al. (2022) assessed leisure engagement and its association with mental health in a group of U.S. adults during C19. They concluded that leisure can be used as a means to reduce psychological distress and enhance wellbeing under stressful circumstances. Importantly, individuals who experienced changes in their leisure participation due to C19 public health restrictions are reporting reduced mental wellbeing globally and across the age-range (Casper et al., 2021; Cosma et al., 2021; Morse et al., 2021). C19 created disruptions to physical, cognitive, social, emotional, and spiritual needs; however, leisure activities have been frequently used as a substitute to fulfill these needs (Anderson, 2020). Though these studies are promising in furthering the understanding of how leisure and recreation can support mental health in the general population during the C19 pandemic, they also highlight the dearth of information pertaining to leisure and recreation and women's mental health during C19.

While scholars are just beginning to outline the role of leisure and recreation in supporting mental health during the pandemic, the role of physical activity in supporting mental health has been well documented (e.g., Callow et al., 2020; Jackson et al., 2021; Rivera-Torres et al., 2021). As previously stated, the scope of what constitutes as 'leisure' or 'recreation' remains

broad (Framework for Recreation in Canada, 2020; Hood & Carruthers, 2007). Operating under the understanding that leisure and recreation experiences are not defined by one specific "activity" but rather, a set of key characteristics, many different mediums can be employed to achieve the desired state. As such, physical activity is a common way one can participate in leisure and recreation. Additionally, the role of physical activity in supporting mental health and overall wellbeing is well understood and accepted (Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, 2021; World Health Organization, 2020).

Scholars have highlighted the association between regular physical activity and positive mental health during C19. Physical activity has been shown to create reductions in anxiety and depression-related symptoms resulting from C19 (Wolf et al., 2021) and can counteract the negative impacts of fear related to C19 (Wright et al., 2021). Physical activity has also been tied to improvements in stress resiliency during the pandemic (Jackson, 2021). Additionally, physical activity can provide a medium to experience social connectedness (Casper et al., 2021; Rivera-Torres et al., 2021; Son et al., 2021), which can be helpful in offsetting the negative impacts of C19 public health restrictions. Physical activity is also one of the most common avenues used to support mental health during the pandemic (Coyle et al., 2021).

Interestingly, the amount and type of physical activity has been noted by scholars as important in supporting mental health. Wolfe (2021) highlighted in their rapid review that individuals who maintained a higher volume and frequency of physical activity during C19 also reported lower experiences of depression and anxiety. Detailing the relationship between physical activity amount and mental health status is important, given that physical activity levels have decreased across Canada since the inception of the pandemic (Statistics Canada, 2021), most notably in women (Nienhuis & Lesser, 2020) and youth (Moore et al., 2020). These studies

highlight that participation in leisure and recreation engagements (e.g., physical activity) are important considerations in supporting women's mental health during the C19 pandemic.

In conclusion, current studies point to leisure and recreation, specifically physical activity, as a useful means to support mental health during C19 in the general population. Moreover, previous studies have supported the notion of leisure and recreation supporting women's mental health pre-pandemic times. However, little is known about the role of leisure and recreation in supporting women's mental health during C19. Therefore, in partnership with the Canadian Mental Health Association (CMHA)-Yukon the purpose of this community-based research project was to understand how leisure and recreation might support women's mental health in Whitehorse, Yukon Territory during C19. Two exploratory research questions guided this project: (1) What is the impact of C19 on women's mental health in Whitehorse, Yukon Territory, and (2) What role might leisure and recreation have in supporting women's mental health during C19?

CHAPTER 2: METHODS

Guiding Perspective & Researcher Position

A constructivist paradigm informs this research project. A constructivist paradigm assumes ontologically that there is no universal truth (relativism), and epistemologically that human experiences are dependent on socially constructed interactions (subjectivism; Markula & Silk, 2011). Researchers working within a constructivist paradigm believe that participants create their understandings of reality, and researchers and participants work together in an interactive process of knowledge-making (Markula & Silk, 2011). This paradigm is important in acknowledging the various realities, circumstances, and accounts experienced by women, and how these differences may influence their participation in leisure and recreation and their mental health during C19. Although rooted in relativism and subjectivism, constructivism does not consider relations of power (Mayan, 2009).

In terms of researcher positionality, I am a caucasian, middle-class, straight, cis-gendered woman. My understanding of family is very non-nuclear. I was raised in a mixed family, with step-parents and step-siblings who I view as parents and siblings. My mother is an Australian immigrant, my father is a caucasian Canadian, my step-father is a refugee from Czech Republic, and my step-mother is French Canadian. Growing up, I split my time between a small mountain town and a rural community; both of which were mostly wealthy and mostly caucasian. Despite their divorce, my parents maintain deep respect and love for one another. I feel as though I have a very trusting and optimistic view of the world, given these formative experiences.

My interest in mental health is very personal. Three generations of women in my family before me have navigated mental illness due to trauma. I too must navigate the intergenerational impacts. I have dealt with panic attacks and anxiety since the age of 12. Often, when I was little,

my mom would express how important sport was to her in dealing with her traumatic childhood experiences. This approach was also passed along to me and what I also turned to in stressful situations. I became immersed in sport and was raised in a very active family. This early influence manifested as an educational interest in Human Kinetics. I started my education in a very clinical, dispassionate environment. It provided an excellent foundational understanding of health physiologically but lacked depth and nuance. As I matured and learned more of the world, a career as a Recreation Therapist became more enticing to me. I was originally not interested in the specialization of mental health because of my family history; it wasn't until my ex-partner passed away from a drug overdose that this shifted. I processed my grief by launching into a place of deep contemplation. I had to understand why this had happened. Through this journey I focused on topics such as power and privilege, institutional and structural power, poverty and social status, and how these factors might impact one's health. These topics altered my naïve and arrogant understanding that there was one "universal truth" that can be measured by the magic of science. These experiences have led me to uphold a constructivist world-view which will be intertwined throughout this work. Additionally, my current relationship prompted deep reflection on where I sit on the social spectrum. This relationship has instilled a sense of social responsibility in me, where I no longer ascribe to the notion of "a good intention", rather view action as the critical component to a more equitable society. This value has led me to select a community-based participatory research (CBPR) approach.

Ethical Considerations

This research was approved by University of Alberta Research Ethics Board (see Appendix A). This project adhered to the Tri-Council Policy Statement (TCPS) 2: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans. Within the TCPS-2 three core ethical principles were followed: (1) respect for persons (2) concern for welfare, and (3) justice. *Respect for Persons* included receiving and maintaining free, informed consent. Voluntary consent was obtained through signed and verbal confirmation. All participants received a document detailing their rights as research participants before signing the consent form (see Appendix B). In recognizing the potential for emotional upset during the interview, the Executive Director of CMHA and I agreed to share the CMHA's 24-hour Reach Out Support Line service should they require additional support. The sensitive nature of recalling personal experiences resulted in emotional upset from some participants, touching on the second principle of *Concern for Welfare*. In these cases, I provided the information to each woman to connect with the Reach Out Support Line. *Justice* refers to treating people fairly and equitably (Government of Canada, 2018). Addressing power imbalances between researcher and participant is a key piece of this principle. In keeping consistent with a CBPR approach, power imbalances were continuously addressed by myself through a process of reflexivity (see Quality Criteria section).

Research Approach

Community-based participatory research (CBPR) is recognized as a collaborative approach that equitably involves all partners in the research process from conception of the research question to translation of knowledge (D'Alonzo, 2010). CBPR emphasizes, prioritizes, and esteems local knowledge (Holland et al., 2010), challenges traditional approaches to research (D'Alonzo, 2010), and embraces values such as social justice, and self-determination (Cargo & Mercer, 2008). CBPR is theoretically guided by critical and social theory, embracing values such as social action and community empowerment (D'Alonzo, 2010; Wallerstein & Duran, 2008). Despite the primary implementation of CBPR in healthcare and health-related topics, leisure scholars have called for increased use of participatory approaches such as CBPR in leisure and

recreation (Fenton et al., 2016; Reid & Alonso, 2018). Moreover, Reid et al. (2013) recommended the use of CBPR to generate practice-based evidence in the field of therapeutic recreation. Challenging traditional positivist approaches to research, some core principles of CBPR include prioritizing community needs, using collaborative community-led approaches, ensuring shared decision-making throughout the entire research process, accepting diverse ways of knowing, and addressing power relations between the researcher and community (Fletcher, 2003; Wallerstein & Duran, 2008).

Leading researchers have acknowledged the strength of participatory approaches such as CBPR when working with women (e.g., Frisby et al., 2005; Ponic et al., 2010) and CBPR has been successfully used at the intersection of leisure, recreation, and mental health (Ariss et al., 2019; Reid et al., 2013; Reid & Alonso, 2018; White et al., 2020). The depth of disclosure around sensitive experiences (e.g., mental health) is highly dependent on trust, comfort, and connection between the researcher and interviewee (Smith & Sparkes, 2016). With its emphasis on relationship-building, trust, and respect, CBPR was an appropriate approach for this work. *Community Advisory Board*

Consistent with the CBPR core principles of prioritizing community needs, using community-led approaches and ensuring shared decision-making, a Community Advisory Board (CAB) guided all phases of this project. CABs have been utilized in other research exploring the role of leisure and recreation in a mental health setting (e.g. Reid & Alonso, 2018; White et al., 2020). A CAB must consist of representatives of the community being engaged (D'Alonzo, 2010). Common constructs of "community" include joint interests, experiences, or perspectives, shared geographic location or place, or a communal experience (Hacker, 2013). A CAB should be comprised of members who can speak to formal and informal experiences, have an interest or

are impacted by the issue at hand, and can provide background knowledge and local context to the project (D'Alonzo, 2010; Hacker, 2013). CABs typically consist of 5-10 members (D'Alonzo, 2010). In the case of this specific project, the CAB consisted of the academic supervisory committee, the clinical supervisor of the CMHA, a recreation therapist, a woman with lived experience of mental illness, and a representative of the Yukon Status of Women Council. Self-identifying women were prioritized to sit on the CAB. In summary, a total of 5 women participated in the CAB.

As indicated in the letter of invitation to CAB members (see Appendix C), the CAB was welcome to participate in any stage of the research process. Examples of their involvement include providing feedback on the research question, shaping and designing the interview guide, reviewing the proposed methods, assisting with recruitment as known sponsors (described below) and agreeing to participate in the data analysis process (described below). The CAB met for an initial meeting in May 2021, whereby we discussed the research questions, the data generation process and ethical considerations prior to initiating the project. I provided email summaries every three months with updates on the project as requested by the CAB between the months of June 2021- Jan 2022. In February 2022 the initial findings were shared with the CAB through a group presentation conducted via Zoom (see Data Analysis section). The CAB was also updated via email correspondence if any major questions arose. For example, after receiving an invitation to a radio interview with the CBC, the CAB were emailed to receive permission and feedback on whether or not to participate.

Participants

A process of purposeful sampling was used to recruit 12 participants. Specifically, 12 adult women ages 18 years or older who have accessed mental health services in Whitehorse in

the last 12 months. To gather additional contextual information, each participant was asked, "can you tell me about yourself" at the onset of their interview. This allowed for self-disclosed demographic information to be shared. The final group was diverse in terms of age, ranging from 22-62 years, and ethnicity, with individuals who self-identified as Asian [1], Caucasian [4], Indigenous [4], Latina [1], and Mixed [2]. Education and self-stated income level were also shared, ranging from Grade 10 to Doctoral and "low income" to "high income", respectively. Marital status was also shared, with women describing themselves as either single, common law, married, divorced, or widowed. And finally, the number of dependents was shared, with nine women having dependents and three having no dependents.

Participants were recruited using a known-sponsor approach. Pseudonyms have been used throughout this work to protect anonymity of each participant. A known-sponsor refers to an individual with a legitimate relationship with the group of interest (Patton, 2002). The known-sponsor approach has been identified as a best practice for gaining access to a particular group (Patton, 2002). The known sponsors within this research were the clinical supervisor of the CHMA-Yukon, the executive director of the Yukon Status of Women's Council and a woman with lived experience with mental illness; both known sponsors were also members of the CAB. Each known-sponsor reached out to their networks differently. Specifically, the clinical supervisor invited me to share a brief presentation with her team of clinical counsellors. The clinical counsellors then selected specific clients and invited them to join the research study using a recruitment poster (see Appendix D). The Executive Director of Yukon Status of Women's Council personally emailed the Executive Directors of the local women's shelter and women's transition home to share a recruitment poster with their frontline workers. Lastly, the

woman with lived experience connected with her personal and professional network through email correspondence and text messaging.

Data Generation

In-depth one-on-one semi-structured interviews were completed with 12 participants between June-August 2021. Interviews are "an effective way for people to describe their experiences in rich and detailed ways, as well as to give their perspectives and interpretations of these experiences" (Smith & Sparkes, 2016, p. 108). The conversational nature of interviews provides an opportunity for participants to maintain control of their story, interpret meanings, and assert their power (Smith & Sparks, 2016). For example, through conversation, participants had the freedom to interpret what "mental health" meant to them, without having a definition imposed on them. Interviews have also been recommended for situations where sensitive topics are being discussed (Smith & Sparks, 2016). Given the sensitive nature of discussing one's experience with mental health, interviews were an appropriate method to use for this study.

Interviews were conducted face-to-face at the CMHA-Yukon office, outside in a local park, or via Zoom according to each participants comfort. Four women chose to meet in person at CMHA office, where the CMHA Executive Director provided a private space for us to meet. Six women chose to complete their interviews outside at a local park on a picnic table, and two women chose to meet over Zoom. Interviews lasted between 60-90 minutes in duration, and were guided by a semi-structured interview guide that was informed by the research literature and approved by the CAB (see Appendix E). At the recommendation of qualitative scholars (Magnusson & Marecek, 2015) the following format was used: (a) *introduction questions* (e.g., "Can you tell me a bit about yourself?"), (b) *focused research questions* (e.g., "How has C19 impacted your mental health?"; "What role might recreation play in supporting women's mental

health during C19?") (c) *closing questions* (e.g., "What else would you like to share that we have not yet discussed?"). All participants consented to having their interviews audio recorded. All recordings were transcribed using Otter.ai transcription software and checked against original recordings.

Data Analysis

All of the women who participated in this study were invited to partake in data analysis as a member of a Data Analysis (DA) team (see Appendix F). Four women agreed to join the DA team, including one member of the CAB. The use of participatory data analysis methods provides a crucial opportunity for participants to engage in the co-creation of meaningful and applicable knowledge (Cashman et al., 2008; Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020) aligning strongly with the core principles of CBPR (Wallerstein & Duran, 2008). Participatory data analysis methods have been previously implemented in the context of leisure and recreation (e.g., Ariss et al., 2019), mental health (e.g., Neill et al., 2021; Yap et al., 2020) and have been used with groups of women (e.g., Cashman et al., 2008; Jackson, 2008; Vaccaro, 2020).

Jackson's (2008) group-oriented analysis process was used to inform the four stages of analysis in which the DA team participated. In stage one, *the initial meeting*, the DA team was invited to a one-on-one meeting with myself, where a detailed outline and instructions of the individual analysis process occurred (see Appendix G). This meeting lasted less than one hour in duration. In stage two, *individual analysis*, the DA team engaged in Jackson's "preparing the data" phase. The DA team was instructed to complete an initial reading of their own transcript without taking any notes. Then, during their second reading, the DA team was instructed to highlight statements that were significant to answering the research questions (e.g., What are the impacts of C19 on women's mental health? What role might leisure and recreation play in

supporting women's mental health during C19?). Each team member then cut out the highlighted sections of text and assigned a "one-word descriptor" or more formally, a code, to the back of the highlighted snippet.

Stage three, group analysis, included Jackson's (2008) "grouping data and identifying themes" and "making sense of the data" phases. The DA team met in person at the CMHA-Yukon office. One of the DA team members did not attend this meeting, it remains unclear why they were unable to attend. However, the group was able to adapt smoothly. There was no precedent set for the group analysis; therefore, the group process was not affected by the person's absence. Instead, the women integrated the absent women's transcript into the findings. Merging Jackson's group-oriented analysis process and feedback from the CAB, I reviewed the purpose of the meeting, revisited the research questions, and outlined the stages of the meeting. Then, each person had two minutes to introduce and provide a high-level overview of their "codes" with the group. After sharing their codes, each person had ten minutes to "pair" their codes to a similar code. The group then came together and began to identify similarities in the pairs, with the intention of building clusters. Each cluster was then worked into five high level themes. I posed questions such as, "how are these codes similar/different?", "what does 'trapped' mean when you hear it?", "does 'connections' feel like the correct descriptor for this theme?". Additionally, one member did not complete their individual analysis (i.e., Stage two). This resulted in real-time analysis of her transcript by the DA team. The DA team was able to pose questions to her directly during the meeting to explore her experiences, feelings, and insights, as we moved through the various stages of the meeting. We wrote her answers on Post-It stamps and added her "codes" to the group snippets.

Having done my own analysis beforehand (described below), I participated in each stage of the process. I actively prioritized the DA team's interpretations, definitions, and descriptions of the codes, even when they were different to mine. For example, one cluster I had originally titled, "suicide" was identified as inaccurate. Instead, the snippets of text reflected a "desire to be out of the situation, not a desire to end one's life". The group analysis lasted three hours and was audio recorded for note-taking purposes. After the group analysis was complete, I integrated the additional six transcripts that were not accounted for. I built on the initial codes and themes established by the DA team then sent a two-page summary to the DA team for their review and feedback. The DA team supported the summary, and did not provide any additional feedback.

Prior to the above-described stage three (i.e., *group analysis* stage), I conducted my own analysis following Elo and Kyngas' (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008) three phase approach to content analysis. Content analysis is useful for creating description and increasing understanding of an unknown phenomena (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008). Having one individual analyze all the transcripts permits continuity between all of the transcripts and allows for broader connections to be drawn between the stories. I did not share my analysis explicitly with the women, albeit they did know that I took part in reading and analyzing all transcripts. Given the uncertainty regarding what to expect from the DA team's participation prior to the DA team meeting, I wanted to be prepared for the event that the DA team either 1) didn't show up, 2) didn't complete the initial analysis or 3) were not engaged. Therefore, in order to support the group analysis process. I completed phases one and two of Elo and Kyngas' three phase approach and used this analysis as a framework to pull from during group analysis process. During the *preparation* phase, I initially read each transcript once to deidentify it, and selected the unit of analysis; the words of the participants. Then I re-read each transcript to become "immersed in the data" (p.109). For the

organization phase, I began a process of open coding, whereby snippets of text were highlighted within each transcript and a "code" was written in the margin capturing the "essence" of the text. I coded all 12 transcripts, including those that were assigned to the DA team. I did not build any high-level themes prior to the group meeting, instead, I waited for the group meeting where I assisted the DA team in determining, describing, and finalizing the subthemes and themes. The final phase, *reporting*, was not completed prior to the group meeting with the DA team.

The final and fourth stage of the group analysis process, group presentation, culminated with a presentation of the findings to the CAB and the participants. Here, the final phase of Jackson's process was followed by "telling the story". All twelve participants were invited to the presentation, three originally expressed interest in attending, however, none were able to make it. The women cited personal reasons for their change in attendance and requested a copy of the presentation to review at their convenience. The Executive Director of the Yukon Status of Women's Council also invited a colleague who is spearheading a similar research project to observe the presentation. Given the current C19-restrictions in Whitehorse, the presentation was held over Zoom in a webinar format, to ensure anonymity of any participants who wished to join. The presentation lasted approximately 45 minutes, with 15 minutes of questions and comments. The CAB asked a series of questions including some pertaining to background theory (e.g. "What definitions of mental health and leisure did you end up using?"), methods (e.g. "Can you describe a bit more how the interpretation process worked during the group analysis?"), and points of discussion (e.g. "Did you see any elements of leisure time impacting mental health negatively? Like substance use?"). After the presentation, the CAB expressed their gratitude for the research. In addition to sharing the presentation with their staff and board members, the

Executive Director of CMHA also committed to supporting a 6-month community-based TR pilot project described below.

Quality Criteria

I applied a relativistic approach to ensure quality in this work. A relativistic approach to determining the quality of a qualitative research project refers to the continuous identification of *characterizing traits*, or criteria that reflects the quality of one specific research study but is not necessarily applicable to another (Kowalski et al., 2018). Summarized by Kowalski et al. (2018), "every qualitative research study has a unique purpose with a unique context, and the criteria used to evaluate the merits of that study need to correspond to its distinctiveness" (p.194). In this sense, the use of pre-determinized quality criteria was not appropriate for the context of this particular study. Therefore, to determine quality, Schinke et al.'s (2013) *characterizing traits* were used. Specifically, in terms of *community driven research*, this research stemmed from a call from the Yukon Government to look at the impact of C19 across all sectors in the territory. Further, CMHA identified this topic as important, and wanted to address it well. CMHA cocreated the research questions and played an active role in informing all phases of this research. Lastly, establishing a CAB assisted with ensuring this project was community driven at all stages of the research process.

Further to Schinke's (2013) characterising traits, *localizing research practice/methods*, can be used to assess if the methods align with local scholarship and approaches. For this project, I remained flexible in adapting my methods as the project evolved. For example, the CAB requested we use a recruitment poster, rather than a scripted email to reach out to some of their participants. I responded by making a recruitment poster and submitting to ethics as soon as possible to ease their needs. *Prolonged engagement* refers to long term commitments and

relationships between the researcher and the community. Extended relationships have developed since the genesis of this project in the summer of 2020. I remain in contact with the Yukon Status of Women's council and have good on-going relations with the organization.

Additionally, the recreation therapist remains a close acquaintance and colleague of mine. I continue to update all 12 of the participants through email correspondence and will continue to do so until after the project is published. Finally, CMHA has agreed to support me in submitting a proposal to Yukon Government to establish a 6-month community-based TR pilot program.

The last characterising traits include *community capacity building* and *project deliverables*. These traits assess whether the community gains skills/knowledge and if the project outcomes are useful to the community in the long term. The DA team participated in the most "technical" aspects of the research process thereby increasing their research skills. Indeed, the CAB also participated in the research process, however, their role was often to provide feedback and guidance on the project in relation to the community. That said, I do believe the CAB gained exposure to new research methods (qualitative approaches), and the research process as whole. For some members of the CAB (e.g., Clinical Supervisor) this exposure to new methods and the research process is helpful for their professional development. Moreover, in terms of project deliverables, this project provided a medium for many women in the community to share their story. Every single woman I spoke with expressed gratitude and appreciation to have someone to talk to and hear their experience. This was an incredibly rewarding realization for me.

The final trait, despite my best efforts, did not occur to the fullest extent possible.

Decentralized university academics refers to the centering of local knowledge and voices rather than the researchers. Given the requirements of degree completion, project timelines, and prior commitments from the CAB and the participants, it would not have been possible to fully realize

this trait. Likewise, during the participatory analysis, I believe my own interpretations came through a bit stronger during the integration of the final 6 transcripts into the findings, despite working off the framework the DA team established and sending them a summary. Lastly, given I was the facilitator of the group meeting, it is likely that I dominated the conversation to a greater extent than if one of the DA team members acted as the facilitator. Some aspects of decentralization did occur through the inclusion of the CAB in the development of the research questions, recruitment process and methods. As well as by establishing the DA team to interpret the findings. Lastly, the Executive Director of CMHA-Yukon is overseeing the next stage of the project by assisting with submitting a 6-month Therapeutic Recreation pilot project to the Yukon Government.

A crucial component of applying a relativistic approach to research evaluation is engaging in a continuous process of reflexivity. Reflexivity has been identified as a key component in participatory approaches (Baum et al., 2006; Reid, 2004). According to Kowalski et al. (2018), reflexivity consists of two parts: (1) reflecting on one's experiences with the issue and, (2) considering how these experiences shape the research process (p.184). Through the keeping of the research journal, I documented my reflections and thoughts during each stage of the research process. The stage that challenged me the most was the analysis process. During the crucial stage of interpreting the findings, I found myself having to "cut" voices to write up the results in their required format. I also had to integrate transcripts that were not discussed in the DA team meeting. This process was challenging for me as I felt as though my voice as researcher was becoming louder and louder as I was writing the results section. This experience touches on a key component of reflexivity in participatory research; power. Stated by Reid (2004), "at its core, reflexivity is about reflecting on power – a researcher's power to perceive, interpret, and

communicate about others" (p.11). Power is certainly something I held throughout this process, despite my best efforts at neutralizing it. I do not believe I was fully able to ameliorate it throughout this work. Indeed, engaging in a reflexive process does not entirely rid the researcher of power (Reid, 2004).

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

The purpose of this community-based research was to understand how leisure and recreation might support women's mental health in Whitehorse, Yukon Territory during C19. The findings of this project are represented by five themes: (a) focus on yourself, (b) facilitating feel-good emotions, (c) connection and support networks, (d) navigating the northern context, and (e) women-identified opportunities. Though each theme is presented separately, they are inextricably linked to one another.

Focus on yourself

Leisure and recreation created opportunities for women to focus on themselves, ultimately supporting their mental health during C19. Participants described the role of women as always, "doing things for everyone else" (Angela) and feeling an increased sense of concern or worry for other people during C19. This deep sense of caring for others, or the "emotional burdens" women carry, was explained as negative for women's mental health, especially during C19. Bailey captures it well:

We're talking about the emotional burdens that women carry, like we've been taught to placate everybody else's emotions, we have to put ours aside, make ourselves smaller, so that the men around us or our families, or our parents, or whoever it may be, feel better. Indeed, the pandemic amplified these emotional burdens by displacing childcare options, reducing employment opportunities and restricting women's support networks.

Mothers in particular were challenged during C19. C19 took away Fatima's employment and childcare options, amplifying her depression. She shared, "When COVID started, that made my depression even worse from staying at home with the kids, all day every day...I'd be at home with the kids by myself." Yet, Fatima also described how leisure and recreation assisted with her

depression by taking her outside her role as a mother. She said, "Being out doing stuff, makes me feel like I have a sense of purpose in life and like I am not just a mom that only cooks and cleans." For Elsie, a mother of two, the pandemic put her in a position as a fulltime caregiver while simultaneously removing her mental health supports. She said, "I had no way to take time for myself, and to use my usual tools to regulate and to take care of myself." However, she recalled a time that her leisure and recreation offset her negative mental health experiences by providing space to "be what she wanted to be":

I was in an organized run group once. And we would leave the kids with babysitters. It was amazing. It was very different from running with a stroller. I was suddenly running on my own, as a woman, with fellow women. We could talk about things other than our child's sleep cycles. We could just be whatever we wanted to be in that moment.

These quotes highlight that leisure and recreation created a space for women to focus on themselves in order to relieve the emotional burdens augmented by C19. This relief was especially important for mothers.

The implementation of C19 public health measures effectively blocked the traditional outlets, including recreation and leisure opportunities, that women used to focus on themselves and support their mental health. Having something "that is your own" was recognized as an important factor in protecting women's mental health during C19. For Rosalind, doing her "inside workout" exemplifies this:

I was happy to be able to do that, because I felt like I was doing something for myself. I want to be a good role model for my kids. Do I want them to see me be depressed? Or do I want them to see me doing these healthy things?

Likewise, Ria shared how important her "personal wellness time" is for her:

I take personal wellness time to survive. I stay home, colour my greys. Read books, listen to music, I really like Solitaire. I study Buddhist philosophy. I feel full. That makes me feel good because I'm doing something for me.

Others expressed feeling, "proud of myself," and like, "this is my purpose in life," after participating in leisure or recreation. Leisure and recreation also helped women find, "meaning," and like they still had "value."

The participants shared how experiencing "meaning" and "value" is particularly important for women who are in abusive situations relationships. As Angela shared, "It was really hard with my husband around because we've been having some challenges. He won't admit to it but he is quite emotionally abusive... I was really uncomfortable having him around a lot of the time." Angela further identified how important it is for women in these situations to have access to meaningful activities:

I think it's important for women, especially women in abusive situations, to be able to find meaning...or feel like they can do something that's good or that's important. I think it's easy in an abusive situation to really get run down into and give up and lose all hope...I swear my [leisure activity] kept me alive.

These testimonies demonstrate how women have recognized that leisure and recreation provide an avenue to focus on themselves and how this is important in protecting their mental health during C19.

For most women, the pandemic created more "emotional burdens." However, for Alina, C19 actually created space for her to become *less* focused on others, "I've become so selfish in an extreme way. Where I'm like, it's all about me. Fuck everybody else. And I'm not a people pleaser anymore." Rosalind expressed similar sentiments, appreciating the additional time to

focus on her kids, "It has it's pluses and minuses actually, like it's been nice that I get to slowdown, and I sort of pushed everybody away and just worried about me and my own children." Though, Rosalind also described feeling predominantly, "alone and afraid" during C19. These diverse experiences suggest the emotional burdens delivered by the pandemic are highly nuanced and relative to each woman and their circumstance. Moreover, that understanding how each woman experiences these emotional burdens is important in providing effective relief through leisure and recreation.

Facilitating feel-good emotions

Participants explained how participating in leisure and recreation can support women's mental health during C19 by facilitating feel-good emotions. C19 has been particularly difficult for women, bringing additional stress and emotional challenges into their lives, some reported feeling, "extremely stressed," "anxious," and "depressed" throughout the pandemic. To cope with this stress, some participants described how they relied on unhealthy behaviours, like Alina who shared, "Drinking was the only way that I could really cope," and Ria who said, "I was smoking more than normal." However, women also stated that engaging in leisure and recreation were, "500% responsible for balanced mental health," (Alina) and, "a great way to process" (Sienna). Moreover, that it helped them by making them feel, "present," "relaxed," and "a sense of peace." Rosalind shared her experience losing her husband before the pandemic, and how her drinking was reignited by C19. However, for Rosalind, yoga was the thing she enjoyed to do in order to abate her drinking, "Yoga actually was something that I was trying to incorporate more into my life as a healthy alternative to partying or to drinking. I actually enjoy going to yoga classes so I can meet more like-minded people."

Elicia also shared how her leisure activities help her when she feels triggered:

[Leisure] makes me feel happier just being downtown taking the dogs for a walk.

Sometimes I see the kid's father downtown drinking and it makes me want to drink but I just take deep breathes in and I just try to keep myself from crying. I go to counselling, drink lots of water, read books and that makes me feel happy. Just another day sober.

For Angela, her existing anxiety issues were "amplified more than they were before" due to C19. Though, Angela also shared how her passion for birding helped her navigate these issues:

I had this huge craving, like, as if a craving for chocolate, you know, like that kind of thing. And it was like this revelation, where I'm like, 'I could use birding, to replace binge eating', you know? Like it was maybe a different thing I could use for helping with my anxiety or, as a coping mechanism.

Anxiety was an emotion that was frequently mentioned by participants. Some women experienced anxiety for the first time during the pandemic, while others managed it beforehand and experienced additional challenges because of C19. For Sienna, her existing anxiety was impacted by C19, "I have anxiety. So yeah, it [COVID] definitely creates a lot of anxiety. It's been pretty negative." Though, when asked how she feels when she teaches [local] workshops, she said, "It was very meditative for me [engaging with people]. You're in a very powerful place and state of mind. You can have a lot of joy in that because you're very focused on what's happening right here." Alina also shared how she used recreation and leisure to facilitate feel good emotions during C19. Specifically, she shared how going for a bike ride helps with her anxiety, "It makes me feel better...and it's all about the head...if my head is in it, I'll be able to do it and be in a good space." Alina further explained,

We did 17k from Rotary Park to Miles Canyon. It was so hard for me on the uphill, I wanted to die. I was like, 'Oh, I hate this shit. But I love this shit'...I need to suffer. This is the kind of suffering I like, this is fun.

These quotes highlight how leisure and recreation have assisted women with managing their anxiety during C19 by evoking feel-good emotions.

Indeed, a myriad of feel-good emotions were shared when asked how they felt when participating in leisure and recreation. In addition to experiencing "fun," women also mentioned that leisure and recreation created a sense of "joy" and made them "feel better" during C19. For example, Ria mentioned, "When I'm studying Buddhist philosophy, my mind opens so much. Then everything is okay. Everything will pass and it is okay. Everything is temporary. So, that made me hope. I feel good." Others shared that their leisure and recreation "builds them up" and helped them "feel accomplished". Angela mentioned that she felt, "More confident, a little bit more powerful, and a little bit happier" after completing a CrossFit class. The participants explained how feel-good emotions were critical to their mental health, particularly during the "dark times" or when they were "falling apart" during C19. Elsie replied, "As I run or walk...my thoughts are a bit aired out. What needed to be radically accepted or simply let go of, just sheds off me...and I come back with more space." Similarly, London explained,

Leisure really helps with the mental health stuff. Even to take an hour out of your day to do something that it's gonna make you feel better. If I read for an hour, it feels a lot better than doing nothing.

For these women, participation in leisure and recreation facilitated feel-good emotions which supported their mental health during C19.

Participants explained how they experienced fear during C19 but recreation and leisure provided opportunities to facilitate much-needed feel-good emotions. Rosalind explained,

It scared me to think about what if this is the end of the world? What the fuck am I going to do? How am I going to get my kids out of town? What the fuck is gonna happen to this world?

However, when she participated in yoga, she said, "I felt like my blood actually flowing through my whole body. It just made me feel a whole lot better. And like a lot calmer." Other women reported feeling "done," "nervous," having "intrusive" or "crazy" thoughts, and felt "frustrated" with C19. Though, women also felt, "giddy, happy, and productive" after participating in leisure and recreation. When describing how she felt after doing a Cher online workout video Cecilia said, "I feel less tired. It actually gave me more energy. I thought I'd be tired but hers promotes energy and is exciting." Leisure and recreation experiences created a sense of peace for some women. These shared experiences exemplify how participation in various leisure and recreation activities provided opportunities for women to experience feel-good emotions during C19 resulting in improved mental health.

Connection and support networks

Leisure and recreation supported women's mental health by providing a chance to connect with others and build a support network during C19. For many women, the restrictions due to C19 made them feel "lonely" and "isolated". For London, the loss of her "girls' night" during C19 was particularly challenging and she found it "hard" when she "lost touch with people." For Bailey, C19 was described as "isolating" but she also explained how the pandemic, "Helped me look at my overall life. What's important to me, slow down, be creative and resourceful about certain things." While C19 public health measures made many women feel

alone and isolated, leisure and recreation allowed women to feel connected to others. Elicia, for example, described her connection to her daughter while engaging in creative pursuits. She said, "I like to sit there and do my own thing while she colours. I try to talk to her and she says 'I like to colour in peace'. So we sit there in the quiet together." Whereas Elicia connected through silence and sharing space, Sienna described how leisure and recreation connected her to other people through simple conversation. She said, "When you're experiencing conversation, intimacy, that brings a lot of joy ...the research tells you people need connection. We are built biologically to need that...I know for myself that it [leisure and recreation] did make a positive contribution." Ultimately, this connection supported Sienna's mental health during C19.

Participants shared numerous examples of how recreation and leisure promoted positive connections during C19. Bailey explained:

I have a dog and we would go for hours every day. I also got a kick sled, so we go kick sledding. I would always run into someone. Or a neighbor would come by, or walk by...I felt like I actually had, you know, some kind of communication with people.

This connection with people in the outdoors was important for Bailey, as her workplace pushed her into greater isolation. She said, "Because of the kind of work I do, I didn't want to be going here there and everywhere and trying to like push myself into certain social situations where maybe people weren't being careful."

While C19 public health measures cut off many of the participants' regular support network and "strained" their relationships, leisure and recreation created a "safe space" for new groups to gather and share "similar passions". Fatima talked about how her leisure and recreation assisted with making friends during this time:

Leisure things, recreation things, help a lot. There is a role for it helping with your mental health. You make friends. Having somebody to talk to is so important. I feel like especially when you stay home, with the kids, it's so lonely.

Importantly, having a support network was identified as a protector of women's mental health. Fatima described how leisure and recreation builds a sense of community and that can help with mental health. She explained, "...the fitness classes I teach, it builds a sense of community. You get to see the same people every time and you get to make friends; you feel closer." Leisure and recreation also preserved existing support networks for some women, such as religious groups. As described by Elicia, "I felt good going to Church. They support us. They know everything about my life. They help out a lot."

Connecting with others and creating a support network was a motivator for women to participate in leisure and recreation. Elsie said, "I'm not great at doing things on my own. I like the collective community stuff. I love yoga classes and spin classes and runs with friends." Many women also described how having an "activity partner" created feelings of motivation and a sense of accountability when it came to leisure and recreation commitments. As suggested by Elsie, "Running on my own seems like, not efficient enough in a day. Ideally, that social piece comes into it, so unless I get this trifecta of checkmarks it falls through." Activity partners were particularly important when mental health created barriers to participate. For example, as stated by Alina, "It's so hard to get out of that bed or couch to find yourself on the trail...usually it takes someone to grab you and put you there. So if you're alone, it's so important." Having an activity partner, or a support network, was identified by some women as particularly important when engaging in new leisure and recreation activities. As Rosalind explained:

I would like to have somebody to participate with...It could also be my own mental state of mind. Like feeling judged or feeling like people might be doing better than I am doing. I don't want to be the only newcomer, you know?

Similarly, London described how she has a friend to help her go fishing:

I have a friend that comes[fishing] with me. She's like, 'we're going for pike or grayling'. I'm like, 'okay, just show me what to put on my rod'. I'm still learning, so she's been given me the 'what to do and what not to do'... it's important to have that person.

Participants shared how having an "activity buddy" facilitated participation in leisure and recreation, allowing them to maintaining their support network during C19.

Navigating the northern context

Participants described the various contextual factors that must be considered for women in Whitehorse when trying to access leisure and recreation to support their mental health during C19. Many of these challenges exist regardless of the global pandemic (e.g., long and dark winters, remoteness); however, the context of C19 has amplified their impact. For example, winter was mentioned by multiple women as a variable impacting their mental health. As shared by Angela, "Winter was really, really hard this year. It was extremely stressful. I got really depressed. I think it was just amplified by so much snow and then the darkness." Women expressed how participation in leisure and recreation supported their mental health during C19, particularly during such "long" and "dark" winters. However, barriers to accessing leisure and recreation services in Whitehorse were also mentioned. Bailey described a "divide" up north, highlighting why some people have access and others don't:

If I can be completely candid, there's definitely a huge divide up in the north between folks who can recreate and folks who can't. Some of it is tools. Like some people can't

afford a bike or a kick sled, or they don't have a lot of women in their life to go with, or don't have access to a warm coat. Or they might have a partner, who steals it. If you're going to get outdoors here, you're usually going for longer periods of time. Even the Millennium trail, which is probably the most basic of all trails is an hour and a half. And there's women who fear their safety. This is a small community. It's not always safe for women who've experienced violence to recreate because it is such a small community. Many of these barriers mentioned by Bailey, such as finances and intimate-partner violence are

Many participants described leisure and recreation activities in Whitehorse to be inaccessible because they are too intense for "the average Yukon woman" (Rosalind). For example, speaking about women who live with mental health issues, Alina shared, "Everything is so hardcore in Yukon. Like adventure and sports and stuff. That is not accessible for someone who's sick." Bailey also identified that, "Everything in Whitehorse tends to be a bit more extreme," suggesting that leisure and recreation opportunities are often inaccessible because one needs to be at a specific skill-level to participate. Understanding such barriers to participation is an important consideration when exploring how leisure and recreation can support women's mental health during C19.

amplified when living in northern or small communities.

Participants explained how women in the north have added "emotional burdens" when compared to women living in other areas of Canada. As Bailey explained, "It's crazy to think of that emotional burden that women are expected to take on. Particularly in the north. Taking care of your families with less resources and less information about those resources." However, participants such as Bailey also explained how residing in the north has a number of "positives" for navigating a pandemic. For example, she explained how she can access the outdoors without,

"worrying about being around people." Participants described how the barriers they experience as a result of living in the north were particularly challenging to manage during C19. However, the women were also very clear that there are indeed benefits of residing in the north.

Lastly, as mentioned in the previous theme, the women explained how C19 disrupted their usual connections and support networks. For many women in Whitehorse, families reside in "the south" or fly-in communities father north. For example, Alina's father typically travels internationally to visit her to assist with property maintenance. She said her father is a, "huge mental support" and not having him visit was, "really hard". Comparably, Angela's family is "all down south, so I don't have a huge support network up here". For Elicia, her mom lives up north, but she was unable to visit her. Due to C19 public health measures, these women have been unable to access a crucial support network during a stressful time. However, some women were grateful to be in Whitehorse. When speaking to the benefits of a remote access location and a small population, Selena said, "We've been so lucky in the Yukon. I don't think we have experienced the pandemic the way the rest of Canada has." These discrepancies again demonstrate the nuance in each woman's experience and perception of C19. These nuances are important to consider when understanding how leisure and recreation can support women's mental health, such as by establishing a new support network.

Women-identified opportunities

Women identified various opportunities, and solutions to barriers, for accessing recreation and leisure to support women's health during C19. For example, participants shared they would like to see less goal-oriented groups to address the "intensity" aspect of Whitehorse recreation. They also suggested creating more drop-in leisure and recreation programs to support women's mental health. Angela said, "I'd like to see gyms at least open for groups that really

need it. I think things to help with people's mental health would be really good – and leisure and rec does help." Bailey echoed similar sentiments, "We need more drop-in places that are specifically for women that are low barrier. Where it's 24/7. Where they can't be banned from it. That are accessible without fail." Rosalind also shared she would like to see programs available where Indigenous and non-Indigenous women can participate together, "I think we just need to have more resources for women and non-Aboriginal women alike. But if they could somehow be interwoven." Though, she also recognized having Indigenous-specific spaces available is important, sharing her personal experience attending a yoga class:

I knew it was gonna just be Aboriginal women, so I wasn't as intimidated. Because sometimes I feel like a little bit intimidated when I go into a yoga class. You know, the white yoga women are...like I don't have any Lululemon. Sorry. So just because it was Aboriginal that made me feel better.

These women have highlighted potential solutions, such as increasing drop-in programs, that can assist women with participating in leisure and recreation, in order to support their mental health during C19.

Participants described the importance of women-focused recreation and leisure opportunities, and they also explained how it is important to have activities that are "open to everyone" As stated by Fatima,

I feel like fitness classes would be a really good thing, but maybe arranging something for women that is a safe place, like anyone can come, you don't have to be somebody of like substance abuse or mental health or homeless or anything.

The development of leisure and recreation offerings to specific groups, with specific needs, was also identified. For, example, Angela suggested offering leisure and recreation activities for

women living in abusive situations. She described that leisure and recreation groups can "mask" support groups for women in abusive situations.

I think if there was something for people in abusive situations to focus on that gives people their own little space away from the stress. Like a hybrid book club, where you actually are reading a book, but then you also talk about the really dark stuff. So there's a light and a dark side of it.

These women have expressed a need for more women-focused leisure and recreation services in order to support their mental health during C19.

The women also identified the importance of developing leisure and recreation activities specifically for men in an effort to support women's mental health. As stated by Rosalind, "I would also like to see more groups for men. I read this one study that when there were more supports for men, the violence actually went down. This way both women and men are supported." Likewise, Cecelia expressed concern for men in her community, "I do worry about some of the men out there. They've got nowhere to go, no one to talk to really. Their gender and everything being a male is geared that way that they're not to express their emotions." London shared how her "guy friends" help keep her engaged in her meditation, "There are a couple of my guy friends who use this meditation app and we like nudge each other when we haven't meditated for a couple of days." Participants explained that supporting men's mental health effectively supports women's mental health.

Women identified a need for more outdoor-focused activities, like Elsie who said, "It would be nice for the community to have more organized outdoor things." Women said that the outdoors was their "runaway spot." Others described feeling, "free" when they are recreating outside. For example, Bailey shared, "...so for me just like being in nature is really good for my

soul and connecting with that higher power and being able to get that clear head." Similarly, Selena stated, "When I think about nature, it feels like love to me." Being outside also created a sense of peace for some women, like Elicia, "It's just quiet being out on the land. It's good." In sum, women have identified an array of opportunities, such as accessing outdoor spaces, to offset the barriers of participating in leisure and recreation to support women's health during C19.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Findings from this work have contributed to the understanding of how leisure and recreation can support women's mental health, specifically during C19. This contribution is critical given the disproportionate mental health impacts experienced by women, especially mothers, due to the pandemic (Canadian Women's Foundation, 2020; Davenport et al., 2021). This research also addresses the gap in knowledge pertaining to how leisure and recreation can support women's mental health in northern Canada during the C19 pandemic. Providing greater insight into this area is crucial considering the shortage of information pertaining to women residing in the north (McLennon et al., 2020) and the scarcity of women-specific mental health services available in northern Canada (McLennon et al., 2020).

The findings of this project are highly complementary to the existing leisure, recreation, and stress coping literature. This project highlights specifically *how* leisure and recreation supported women's mental health. Scholars have documented the many stress-coping mechanisms that lead to positive mental health outcomes by participating in leisure and recreation (Fancourt, 2021). Notably, recent studies completed during C19 have also identified that leisure and recreation not only assist with stress-coping during C19 (e.g., Shen, 2021), but use similar processes to do so, such as enhancing feelings of connection (e.g., Casper, 2021). Likewise, participants in this study explained that their leisure and recreation engagements created time for them to focus on themselves (exercising their self-determination), generated an array of feel-good emotions (positive emotions/mood regulation), and facilitated connectedness (social connections) during C19. Indeed, multiple "leisure coping strategies" (Iwasaki, 2001, p.165) have been described in detail, such as developing a social support network and enhancing mood in the general population. While women did not use the specific language of "stress-

coping" in this project, they did share personal experiences that detailed how leisure and recreation assisted with managing their stress. For example, women described how leisure and recreation assisted with establishing a sense of self-determination (Coleman & Iso-Ahola, 1993; Iwasaki, 2000, 2001; Mannel, 2007), generated positive emotions/mood regulation (Keiber, et al., 2002), and facilitated social connections (Coleman & Iso-Ahola, 1993; Fenton, 2017). Ultimately, these stress-coping processes were instigated by participation in leisure and recreation, and buffered the negative impacts of C19 to support their mental health.

The concept of self-determination was described by many women in this research. At the time of writing, no published studies have documented the links between leisure, self-determination, and stress coping for women during C19. However, it is well established that leisure-induced self-determination is important for stress-coping in the general population (Coleman & Iso-Ahola, 1993). Because leisure and recreation are rooted in experiences that are intrinsically motivated and are free of obligation (Anderson & Heyne, 2012), they are often the only opportunity throughout the day where one can exercise self-determination. As Caldwell (2005) surmised,

Although leisure is not the only context for meaningful activity to occur, due to the perceived freedom that often accompanies leisure, it is sometimes the most important or even only context in which one can be his or her 'true self' and feel that what one does is personally meaningful and authentic" (p.18).

This notion of a "true self" could be represented by women in this study, who stated that when they were able to focus on themselves, they were able to "be what they wanted to be" and, ultimately exercise their self-determination by choosing exactly what they wanted to do in their leisure time. While women did not explicitly state that they were "self-determined" in their

leisure and recreation, the language they used was consistent with the concept of self-determination described within the leisure, recreation, and stress-coping literature. Indeed, leisure and recreation have been previously identified as a means for women to experience self-determination and autonomy, leading to positive mental health outcomes (Parry, 2013). Having the opportunity to exercise self-determination was particularly important for women given the various ways C19 public health measures restricted women's ability to tend to themselves (e.g., reduced childcare options, reduced public gatherings, reduced leisure and recreation service offerings) and amplified the "emotional burdens" of caregiving. Mothers, in particular, have described the implications from these public health restrictions (Davenport et al., 2021). In sum, this project contributes to the understanding of the importance of self-determination in relation to women's mental health during C19.

In addition to self-determination, this project also reaffirmed that leisure and recreation can assist with stress by increasing social support (Coleman & Iso-Ahola, 1993). Seminal work by Coleman and Iso-Ahola (1993) previously outlined self-determination and social support as primary coping processes, however, they did not hone in on *why* these coping processes might be of particular benefit to women during times of stress. The current research adds to this knowledge base by detailing how leisure and recreation create spaces for women to experience self-determination and social support, and how these processes can then enhance positive emotions. It is well-established that women demonstrate a greater "tend and befriend" stress response behaviour than men (Taylor et al., 2000). In this phenomenon women exhibit greater nurturing behaviours and greater mobilization of social support. Researchers have stated the "tend and befriend" response is, "one of the most robust gender differences that exist in adult human behaviour...and is the primary gender difference in adult human behavioural responses to

stress" (p.418). In the current study, women clearly delineated that maintaining a sense of connectedness and a support network was crucial to supporting their mental health during C19. Leisure and recreation were able to assist with this need when C19 public health measures restricted their typical access to their support network. This finding accentuates that it is important for women to maintain access to their leisure and recreation engagements to preserve their social support system in order to protect their mental health during times of stress.

Researchers have documented how leisure and recreation can create positive emotions that assist with coping (Iwasaki & Mannell, 2000; Kleiber et al., 2002). However, such studies are typically completed with the general population and are not specific to women. In the current study, women identified that positive emotions offset the difficult feelings (e.g., fear), situations (e.g., intimate partner violence) and perceptions (e.g., increased emotional burdens) they experienced during C19. Indeed, women in this research discussed many "feel-good emotions" resulting from their participation in leisure and recreation engagements that assisted with supporting their mental health. This work was similar to Denovan and Macaskill's (2017) qualitative study assessing how leisure can act as a positive coping strategy to stressful situations. They found that, "negative emotions acted in tandem with stress to deplete resources, whereas positive emotions occurred alongside leisure engagement and increased resources" (p.460). Positive emotions have been described as an important mediator of stress-coping by supporting mood enhancement (Iwasaki & Mannell, 2000). Therefore, this study adds additional insight as to how participating in leisure and recreation can assist women with experiencing positive emotions during C19, and how these experiences assist with supporting their mental health.

A primary strength of this study lies within further distilling the ways in which leisure and recreation supported women's mental health during C19. For instance, women in this project noted how leisure and recreation allowed them to "be whatever they wanted to be". This notion of escaping stressful emotional burdens generated by C19 by participating in leisure and recreation during C19 has not been described in the literature. Though, scholars have identified that leisure and recreation engagements have been used by women to resist gender roles prepandemic times (Petty & Trussell, 2021). Additionally, women in this project clearly described their need for a support network and connection during C19, to offset the experiences of loneliness, fear, and isolation. Indeed, having a support network has been identified as a protective factor for women's mental health during the pandemic (Almeida, 2020). Overall, this work provides greater insight into how women are managing the "women-specific" burdens of C19 (e.g., distribution of domestic labour) through their leisure and recreation engagements.

In this study, women shared how leisure and recreation generated various stress-coping processes that supported their mental health. These processes included time to focus on themselves, increased experiences with feel-good emotions, increased sense of connectedness and strengthened support networks. Existing literature suggests these processes are highly connected and interrelated (Hood & Carruthers, 2007; Iwasaki et al., 2018). In their conceptual paper Iwasaki et al. (2018) reflects on the reciprocal nature of the processes identified in their work, stating, "rather than seeing each element independently, it appears important to consider the possibility of deriving multiple meanings from a single [leisure] engagement experience..." (p.33). As noted in the Results section, the findings from this study are deeply interconnected despite their presentation as separate themes. Therefore, the Discussion section is also presented using interconnected literature and descriptions. This allows for greater situation of the findings

within the leisure and recreation literature and better reflects the multiple meanings derived from participation in leisure and recreation during C19.

The findings from this project also suggest that leisure and recreation can be used in a variety of stressful situations to assist with mental health. As outlined by Parry (2013), women create a "sphere of sociability" (p.219), "survival strategies" (p.220), and "prevent identity theft" (221) by engaging in leisure and recreation. These three mechanisms allow women to transcend negative life events (e.g., fertility issues) by building a support network, coping with negative emotions, creating a sense of normalcy, and constructing identity. Women in this study described the same three processes, but within the context of C19. The current study also complements Hutchinson et al.'s (2008) work, whereby women managed stressful situations using leisure and recreation to establish social support, exercise emotional regulation, sustain coping efforts, and validate their sense of self. Given the consistencies between the current study and existing scholarship, it seems that despite the stressful "context" presented to women (e.g., C19, breast cancer, fertility) the stress-coping benefits of leisure and recreation withstand circumstance. These mechanistic pillars enable women to protect their mental health, regardless of the stressful situation they are experiencing.

This study also contributes to the knowledge base pertaining to how women residing in northern Canada use leisure and recreation to support their mental health during C19. Cameron et al.'s (2020) study highlighted how women are experiencing greater rates of anxiety and depression than pre-pandemic times. This is similar to women in the current study, who shared greater experiences with anxiety, depression, and loneliness. However, women in the current study identified additional considerations of living in the north that amplified their situations. For example, given the geographical location of Whitehorse, women were particularly impacted by

the C19 travel restrictions and the long winters. Women in the current study identified that their leisure and recreation was highly conducive to facilitating processes that reduced the challenging aspects of living in the north which supported their mental health. Barriers to participating in leisure and recreation in the north (e.g., skill-level requirements, privacy concerns), were also noted by participants in this study, lending insight into how best to implement leisure and recreation services in this context. While these contextual factors are important to address when establishing leisure and recreation services for women in northern Canada, they also allow for greater transferability of the findings to similar situations, such as remote-access communities or communities with a culture that centres "outdoor adventure".

Another main contribution of this research was the presentation of solutions that might assist women in increasing their participation in leisure and recreation in northern Canada. This finding is exceptionally useful in executing the provision of leisure and recreation services to support women's mental health in northern contexts. For example, women in this study identified a need for an "activity buddy" or the requirement of a social component to engage in leisure and recreation in Whitehorse. This solution was similar to Hudson et al.'s (2019) research exploring Aboriginal youth's experiences with physical activity in northern Canada, where youth emphasised how social support was necessary for their engagement in activities. Additionally, women in the current study highlighted how participation in nature-based leisure and recreation was particularly helpful for their mental health during C19. This finding is similar to Jackson et al.'s (2020) study who found that regular physical activity in the outdoors was important in ameliorating stress for adolescents. While Jackson et al.'s (2020) work was not specific to a northern context, it does highlight the importance of engaging in nature during C19 to protect

mental health. In sum, this work contributes to the dearth of knowledge pertaining to how leisure and recreation can support women's mental health in northern Canada during C19.

Lastly, this research also supports previous findings outlining the importance of participating in leisure and recreation during C19 in the general population. Similar to women in the current study, Rivera-Torres et al.'s (2021) scoping review details how leisure and recreation participation supported the mental wellness of older adults during C19 by increasing social wellbeing. Further, Shen et al. (2021) stated that leisure "can be an important avenue for enhancing human well-being, even under a restrictive environment and sustained stress, such as C19" (p.16). They note that participation in leisure may be used as a means to "detach" from stressors and "recover" through leisure (p.15). Women in the current study described analogous protective benefits from participating in leisure and recreation during C19, where they came back with "more space" after their leisure and recreation experience. These findings add to the growing body of literature suggesting that maintaining participation in leisure and recreation engagements is important for protecting mental health during C19 in the general population.

This research also has a number of notable methodological contributions to the leisure and recreation literature. Firstly, leisure scientists have previously called for the use of more participatory approaches in leisure and recreation spaces (Fenton, et al., 2016; Reid et al., 2013). This study answers that call by embracing a collaborative approach throughout all stages of the research process. Specifically, the CAB's continuous involvement and feedback was paramount to ensuring the project was meaningful to the women and the CAB. As outlined by Vaughn and Jacques (2020), the goals of participatory research are knowledge production and real-world action. The findings of this research have achieved both these goals by producing knowledge pertaining to the role of leisure and recreation in supporting women's mental health, and real-

world action by outlining barriers and opportunities to participating in leisure and recreation that will be used by the CAB to inform future mental health programming in Whitehorse.

Of particular note, is the participatory nature of the data analysis stage. Strengths of engaging participants in the data analysis process include greater relevancy of action items, increased accuracy in the interpretation of the findings, as well as an increased research capacity for participants (Jackson, 2008; Vaccaro, 2020). Very little has been published in the field of leisure and recreation on *how* exactly to engage in participatory data analysis processes. This project was very successful in utilizing a participatory data analysis approach and provides great detail on how to implement a participatory data analysis process for future research. Finally, using characterising traits as a means to determine quality in the context of this research was helpful in determining the success of using a CBPR approach. As outlined above in the Quality Criteria section, while not without its imperfections, the project overall was successful in this regard.

Limitations and future directions

While this project has a multitude of strengths, it also has limitations. Participatory approaches to research are not without their challenges. For example, though all women were invited to join the participatory data analysis, only three women completed the entire process. This small number likely resulted in a greater influence of my own voice during the group meeting. Similar limitations have been documented in other participatory research in the field of mental health and physical activity. For example, Jackson et al. (2008) noted that the researchers in their project tended to "dominate the discussion" (p.167). Additionally, as outlined in the Quality criteria section, I do not think that the establishment of a CAB and engagement of the DA team completely resulted in decentralizing the academy (Schinke et al., 2013). In particular

during the aftermath of the group meeting, where I integrated the remaining 6 transcripts into the codes and themes created by the DA team. Despite my best intentions to do this project "with" participants, rather than "on" them (Vaughn & Jacques, 2020), I don't think my centrality in this research process was fully addressed.

Vaughn and Jacques (2020) outline "choice points" (p.5) where decision-making can be shared by researcher and participants. It seems that while many of these "choice points" included input from the CAB or women (e.g., identifying the purpose of the project) the CAB often defaulted to my initial recommendations or proposed ideas. For example, in determining the recruitment strategy, the CAB suggested using social media. However, I proposed using the known-sponsor approach to ensure a more relational recruitment process. The CAB changed their opinion and agreed to use this approach instead of a broad social media advertisement. This to me suggests that researcher influence was heavily woven into the proposal, methods, analysis, and findings of this project. This resulted in the various choice points of the participatory process shifting between the consulting to collaborating level of engagement, as outlined on the engagement continuum described by Vaughn and Jacques (2020). Consulting refers to simply receiving input from the community, whereas collaborating refers to the community acting as a partner in the research process (Vaughn & Jacques, 2020). Researchers might address this is the future by partnering with an agency prior to commencing any research projects in order to establish a relationship outside of the context of research. Once the relationship is established, the partners can reach out to researchers when they are ready to explore research options. Additionally, more detailed training workshops might be of use to remove any intimidation factors experienced by community members (e.g. data analysis team members).

In terms of additional future directions, researchers might want to consider the exploration of "negative leisure" particularly within the context of stressful situations, such as C19, breast cancer, fertility challenges or natural disasters. Described by Caldwell (2005), negative leisure refers to free-time engagements that result in deviant, addictive, or risky behaviours. Often these behaviours occur in times of boredom, loneliness, or stress (Caldwell, 2005). As noted in the findings, some women in this study found themselves engaging in unhealthy behaviours such as drinking. This aspect was not addressed directly in this study, but could be an important angle to explore given the circumstances created by C19.

Another area to consider for future directions explicitly relates to stress-coping through leisure and recreation. While the guiding research questions of this project did not explicitly focus on stress-coping, stress-coping clearly became the centerpiece of the findings. There are two explanations for this. First, one of the guiding research questions explored the impact of C19 on women's mental health. Naturally, when asked about how C19 impacted their mental health, women frontloaded the conversation with the "negative impacts" of C19. These negative impacts were overwhelmingly stressful for women; thus, the conversation centred around stress. The second research question explored the role leisure and recreation could play in supporting their mental health during C19. This effectively implies that leisure and recreation do support their mental health, and they just had to think of reasons why. Consequently, it is only natural that many of the experience's women shared related to how leisure and recreation supported their mental health. In other words, how leisure and recreation actually assist with coping with the impacts of C19. Therefore, it could be valuable to explicitly address this question and see if women could provide additional insight as to how leisure and recreation act as a coping mechanism during stressful events.

Finally, a crucial future direction in this study stems from the barriers and opportunities outlined by the women. Rather than suggesting more research in this area, the women in this project have clearly outlined actionable next steps in order to support their mental health. For example, creating networks for women to access so they can participate with an "activity buddy" is a relatively simple solution to removing the intimidation factor of participation in new leisure and recreation experiences. Additionally, providing more leisure programming for women that doubles as a "decoy" support group could be helpful for women to receive the mental health support they need. Lastly, increasing drop-in programs that provide the necessary equipment to recreate in cold climates (e.g., jackets, toques) would be helpful for women in tight financial situations.

Conclusion

Findings from this participatory research detail how leisure and recreation can support women's mental health in Whitehorse, Yukon Territory during C19. This research suggests that leisure and recreation offer various processes that assist women with managing stressful situations that in turn support their mental health. These include creating a space for women to focus on themselves, sparking feel-good emotions, and strengthening women's connectedness and support networks. This research also makes methodological contributions to the field leisure and recreation, specifically by utilizing a participatory approach at all stages of the research process. Finally, this research presents women-identified barriers and solutions to participating in leisure and recreation in northern Canada, mapping out actionable steps to further support women's mental health during C19.

References

- Ahmad, M., & Vismara, L. (2021). The psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic on women's mental health during pregnancy: A rapid evidence review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(13), 1-15.
- Aknin, L., de Neve, J., Dunn, E., Fancourt, D., Goldberg, E., Helliwell, J., Jones, S., Karam, E., Layard, R., Lyubomirsky, S., Rzepa, A., Saxena, S., Thornton, E., VanderWeele, T., Whillans, A., Zaki, J., Karadag, O., & Amor, Y. (2022). Mental health during the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic: A review and recommendations for moving forward. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/17456916211029964
- Almeida, M., Shrestha, A. D., Stojanac, D., & Miller, L. J. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on women's mental health. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, *23*, 741–748. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-020-01092-2/Published
- Anderson, L., & Heyne, L. (2012). *Therapeutic Recreation Practice: A Strengths Approach*. Venture Publishing.
- Anderson, S. (2020). COVID-19 and leisure in the United States. *World Leisure Journal*, *62*(4), 352–356. https://doi.org/10.1080/16078055.2020.1825259
- Ariss, J. J., Gerlach, A., Baker, J. B., Barry, K., Cooper, L., de Vries, T. L., Halligan, K., & Lacroix, M. (2019). Community-based recreation therapy and mental health recovery: A mixed-media participatory action research study. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research*, Education, and Action, 13(2), 161–170. https://doi.org/10.1353/cpr.2019.0016
- Asmundson, G. J. G., Paluszek, M. M., Landry, C. A., Rachor, G. S., McKay, D., & Taylor, S. (2020). Do pre-existing anxiety-related and mood disorders differentially impact COVID-19

- stress responses and coping? *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102271
- Balkir, N., Arens, E. A., & Barnow, S. (2013). Exploring the relevance of autonomy and relatedness for mental health in healthy and depressed women from two different cultures: When does culture matter? *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *59*(5), 482–492. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764012441428
- Baum, F., MacDougall, C., & Smith, D. (2006). Participatory action research. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 60(10), 854–857.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2004.028662
- Berthelot, N., Lemieux, R., Garon-Bissonnette, J., Drouin-Maziade, C., Martel, É., & Maziade, M. (2020). Uptrend in distress and psychiatric symptomatology in pregnant women during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, *99*(7), 848–855. https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.13925
- Broche-Pérez, Y., Fernández-Fleites, Z., Jiménez-Puig, E., Fernández-Castillo, E., & Rodríguez-Martin, B.C. (2020). Gender and fear of COVID-19 in a Cuban population sample. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00343-8
- Caldwell, L. (2005). Leisure and health: Why is leisure therapeutic. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 33(1), 7–26.
- Callow, D.D., Arnold-Nedimala, N.A., Jordan, L.S., Pena, G.S., Won, J., Woodard, J.L., & Smith, J.C. (2020). The mental health benefits of physical activity in older adults survive the COVID-19 pandemic. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 28(10), 1046–1057. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2020.06.024

- Cameron, E. E., Joyce, K. M., Delaquis, C. P., Reynolds, K., Protudjer, J. L. P., & Roos, L. E. (2020).

 Maternal psychological distress & mental health service use during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 276, 765–774. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.081
- Canadian Mental Health Association. (2015, n.d.). What is mental health and mental illness?

 Canadian Mental Health Association. https://reddeer.cmha.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2017/04/mental-health-and-mental-illness.pdf
- Canadian Parks and Recreation Association, & Interprovincial Sport and Recreation Council. (2015, n.d.). Framework for recreation in Canada 2015: Pathways to wellbeing. Canadian Parks and Recreation Association. https://cpra.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/FrameworkForRecreationInCanada_2016wcitation.pdf
- Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. (2021, n.d.). *Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines*.

 Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. https://csepguidelines.ca/
- Canadian Women's Foundation. (2020, n.d.). *The facts: Women and pandemics*. Canadian Women's Foundation. https://canadianwomen.org/the-facts/women-and-pandemics/
- Cargo, M., & Mercer, S. L. (2008). The value and challenges of participatory research: Strengthening its practice. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *29*, 325–350. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.091307.083824
- Cashman, S., Adeky, S., Allen, A., Corburn, J., Israel, B., Montaño, J., Rafelito, A., Rhodes, S., Swanston, S., Wallerstein, N., & Eng, E. (2008). The power and the promise: Working with communities to analyze data, interpret findings, and get to outcomes. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(8), 1407–1417. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2007.113571
- Casper, J. M., Bocarro, J. N., & Lothary, A. F. (2021). An examination of pickleball participation, social connections, and psychological well-being among seniors during the COVID-19

- pandemic. *World Leisure Journal*, *63*(3), 330–346. https://doi.org/10.1080/16078055.2021.1957708
- Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (2021, n.d.). *Stress*. Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. https://www.camh.ca/en/health-info/mental-illness-and-addiction-index/stress
- Charnock, S., Heisz, A., Kaddatz, J., Spinks, N., & Mann, R. (2021, April 15). Canadians' well-being in year one of the COVID-19 pandemic. Statistics Canada.
 https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/75f0002m/75f0002m2021003-eng.htm
- Coleman, D., Iso-Ahola, S.E. (1993). Leisure and health: The role of social support and self-determination. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 25(2), 111-128.
- Cosma, A., Pavelka, J., & Badura, P. (2021). Leisure time use and adolescent mental well-being:

 Insights from the COVID-19 Czech spring lockdown. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(23). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182312812
- Coyle, C., Ghazi, H., & Georgiou, I. (2021). The mental health and well-being benefits of exercise during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study of medical students and newly qualified doctors in the UK. *Irish Journal of Medical Science*, *190*, 925–926. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11845-020-02423-z/Published
- Cruyt, E., de Vriendt, P., de Letter, M., Vlerick, P., Calders, P., de Pauw, R., Oostra, K., Rodriguez Bailón, M., Szmalec, A., Antonio, M. B. J. A., Fernández Solano, A., Vidaña, L., & de Velde, V. (2021). Meaningful activities during COVID-19 lockdown and association with mental health in Belgian adults. *BMC Public Health*, *21*(622), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10673-4
- D'Alonzo, K. (2010). Getting started in CBPR: Lessons in building community partnerships for new researchers. *Nursing Inquiry*, *17*(4), 282–288.

- Dattilo, J., Kleiber, D., & Williams, R. (1998). Self-determination and enjoyment enhancement: A Psychologically-based, *Therapeutic Recreation Journal*, *32*(4), 258-271.
- Davenport, M. H., Meyer, S., Meah, V. L., Strynadka, M. C., & Khurana, R. (2020). Moms Are Not OK: COVID-19 and Maternal Mental Health. *Frontiers in Global Women's Health*, *I*(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgwh.2020.00001
- Denovan, A., Macaskill, A. (2017). Building resilience to stress through leisure activities: a qualitative analysis. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 20(4), 446-466. https://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2016.1211943
- Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x
- Fancourt, D., Aughterson, H., Finn, S., Walker, E., & Steptoe, A. (2021). How leisure activities affect health: a narrative review and multi-level theoretical framework of mechanisms of action, *Lancet Psychiatry*, 8(4), 329-339. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30384-9
- Fenton, L., White, C., Gallant, K. A., Gilbert, R., Hutchinson, S., Hamilton-Hinch, B., & Lauckner, H. (2017). The benefits of recreation for the recovery and social inclusion of individuals with mental Illness: An integrative review. *Leisure Sciences*, 39(1), 1–19.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2015.1120168
- Fenton, L., White, C., Gallant, K., Hutchinson, S., & Hamilton-Hinch, B. (2016). Recreation for mental health recovery. *Leisure*, 40(3), 345–365. https://doi.org/10.1080/14927713.2016.1252940
- Findlay, L. C., Arim, R., & Kohen, D. (2020). Understanding the perceived mental health of Canadians during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Reports*, *31*(4), 22–27. https://doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x202000400003-eng

- Fletcher, C. (2003). Community-based participatory research relationships with Aboriginal communities in Canada: Overview of context and process. *Pimatziwin*, *I*(1), 27–62.
- Frisby, W., Reid, C., Millar, S., & Hoeber, L. (2005). Putting "participatory" into participatory forms of action research. *Journal of Sport Management*, 19, 367–386.
- Glover, T. D., & Parry, D. C. (2008). Friendships developed subsequent to a stressful life event: The interplay of leisure, social capital, and health. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 40(2), 208–230. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2008.11950138
- Government of Canada. (2018). *Tri-council policy statement: Ethical conduct for research involving humans*. Government of Canada. https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/documents/tcps2-2018-en-interactive-final.pdf
- Hacker, K. (2013). *Community-based participatory research*. SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452244181
- Henderson, K. A., & Gibson, H. J. (2013). An integrative review of women, gender, and leisure: Increasing complexities. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 45(2), 115–135.
- Hessami, K., Romanelli, C., Chiurazzi, M., & Cozzolino, M. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic and maternal mental health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2020.1843155
- Holland, D., Powell, D.E., Eng, E., & Drew, G. (2010). Models of engaged scholarship: An interdisciplinary discussion. *Collaborative Anthropologies*, *3*, 1-36.
- Hudson, B. W., Spence, J. C., & McHugh, T. F. (2020). An exploration of the physical activity experiences of northern aboriginal youth: A community-based participatory research project.
 Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 12(1), 108-124.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1584123

- Hutchinson, S. L., Yarnal, C. M., Staffordson, J., Kerstetter, D. L. (2008). Beyond fun and friendship: the red hat society as a coping resource for older women. *Ageing & Society*, 28, 979-999.
- Hood, C., & Carruthers, C. (2007). Enhancing leisure experience and developing resources: The leisure and well-being model, Part II. *Therapeutic Recreation Journal*, 41(4), 298–325.
- Iwasaki, Y. (2001). Testing an optimal matching hypothesis of stress coping and health: Leisure and general coping. *Society and Leisure*, *24*(1), 163–203. https://doi.org/10.7202/000167ar
- Iwasaki, Y., Mactavish, J., & Mackay, K. (2005). Building on strengths and resilience: Leisure as a stress survival strategy. *British Journal of Guidance and Counselling*, *33*(1), 81–100. https://doi.org/10.1080/03069880412331335894
- Iwasaki, Y., & Mannell, R. C. (2000). Hierarchical dimensions of leisure stress coping. *Leisure Sciences*, 22(3), 163–181. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490409950121843
- Iwasaki, Y., Messina, E. S., & Hopper, T. (2018). The role of leisure in meaning-making and engagement with life. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, *13*(1), 29–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2017.1374443
- Iwasaki, Y., Messina, E., Shank, J., & Coyle, C. (2015). Role of leisure in meaning-making for community-dwelling adults with mental illness: Inspiration for engaged life. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 47(5), 538–555. https://doi.org/10.18666/jlr-2015-v47-i5-5305
- Iyengar, U., Jaiprakash, B., Haitsuka, H., & Kim, S. (2021). One year into the pandemic: A systematic review of perinatal mental health outcomes during COVID-19. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 12, 1-30. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.674194
- Jackson, B., Stevenson, K., Larson, L., Peterson, N., & Seekamp, E. (2021). Outdoor activity participation improves adolescents' mental health and well-being during the covid-19 pandemic.

- International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(5), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18052506
- Jackson, S. (2008). A participatory group process to analyze qualitative data. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action*, 2(2), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1353/cpr.0.0010
- Keller, S. (2019). What does mental health have to do with well-being? *Bioethics*, *34*, 228-234. https://doi.org/10.1111/bioe.12702
- Kim, J., Han, A., & Nguyen, M. C. (2021). Leisure time physical activity, social support, health perception, and mental health among women with breast cancer. *Leisure Studies*, 40(3), 352–362. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614367.2020.1869290
- Kleiber, D. A., Hutchinson, S. L., & Williams, R. (2002). Leisure as a resource in transcending negative life events: Self-protection, self-restoration, and personal transformation. *Leisure Sciences*, 24, 219–235.
- Kowalski, K. C., McHugh, T. L., Sabiston, C. M., & Ferguson, L. J. (2018). *Research methods in kinesiology*. Oxford University Press.
- Larochelle-Côté, S., & Uppal, S. (2020, July 6). *Concerns and precautions taken in the Canadian North during the pandemic*. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00048-eng.htm
- Lauckner, H., Fenton, L., Gallant, K., White, C., & Taylor, K. (2018). Deepening partnerships through co-leadership: Integrating first voice perspectives into the recreation for mental health (R4MH) project. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *25*(5), 325–334. https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2018.1502347

- Lebel, C., MacKinnon, A., Bagshawe, M., Tomfohr-Madsen, L., & Giesbrecht, G. (2020). Elevated depression and anxiety symptoms among pregnant individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 277, 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.126
- Lincoln, S. (2021). Building resilience through trail running: women's perspectives. *Leisure*, 45(3), 397-421. https://doi.org/10.1080/14927713.2021.1880337
- López-Morales, H., del Valle, M. V., Canet-Juric, L., Andrés, M. L., Galli, J. I., Poó, F., & Urquijo, S. (2021). Mental health of pregnant women during the COVID-19 pandemic: A longitudinal study. *Psychiatry Research*, *295*, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113567
- Magnusson, E., & Marecek, J. (2015). *Doing interview based qualitative research*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9781107449893.005
- Mannell, R. C. (2007). Leisure, health and well-being. *World Leisure Journal*, 49(3), 114–128. https://doi.org/10.1080/04419057.2007.9674499
- Markula, P., & Silk, M. (2011). The promise. In *Qualitative research for physical culture* (pp.196-224). Palgrave.
- Mayan, M. J. (2009). Theory and method. In *Essentials of Qualitative Inquiry* (pp. 22–33). Routledge.
- McCarville, R., & MacKay, K. (2013). *Leisure for Canadians*. Venture Publishing. https://www.sagamorepub.com/sites/default/files/2018-07/LFORC205-look-inside-Opt.pdf
- McIntyre, R. S., & Lee, Y. (2020). Projected increases in suicide in Canada as a consequence of COVID-19. *Psychiatry Research*, *290*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113104
- McLean, D., Hurd, A., & Anderson, D. (2019). Foundations of recreation and leisure. In *Kraus'**Recreation and Leisure in Modern Society (pp. 1–1087). Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- McLennan, B., Green, G., Marchildon, G., Strand, D., & Zelmer, J. (2020, October 13). *Putting*people first: The final report of the comprehensive review of Yukon's health and social programs

- and services. Yukon Government. https://yukon.ca/sites/yukon.ca/files/hss/hss-imgs/putting people first final report.pdf
- Mood Disorders Society of Canada. (2009, November). *Quick facts: Mental illness and addiction in Canada*. Mood Disorders Society of Canada. https://mdsc.ca/quick-facts/
- Moore, S. A., Faulkner, G., Rhodes, R. E., Brussoni, M., Chulak-Bozzer, T., Ferguson, L. J., Mitra, R., O'Reilly, N., Spence, J. C., Vanderloo, L. M., & Tremblay, M. S. (2020). Impact of the COVID-19 virus outbreak on movement and play behaviours of Canadian children and youth: A national survey. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-020-00987-8
- Morgan, J., & Farsides, T. (2009). Psychometric evaluation of the meaningful life measure. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 10(3), 351–366. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-008-9093-6
- Morse, K. F., Fine, P. A., & Friedlander, K. J. (2021). Creativity and leisure during COVID-19: Examining the relationship between leisure activities, motivations, and psychological well-being. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.609967
- Moxham, L., Liersch, S., Taylor, E., Patterson, C., & Brighton, R. (2015). Preliminary outcomes of a pilot therapeutic recreation camp for people with a mental illness. *Therapeutic Recreation Journal*, 49(1), 61–75.
- Muro, A., Feliu-Soler, A., & Castellà, J. (2021). Psychological impact of COVID-19 lockdowns among adult women: the predictive role of individual differences and lockdown duration.

 Women and Health, 61(7), 668–679. https://doi.org/10.1080/03630242.2021.1954133
- Neill, R., Best, P., Lloyd, K., Williamson, J., Allen, J., Badham, J., & Tully, M. (2021). Engaging teachers and school leaders in participatory data analysis for the development of a school-based

- mental health intervention. *School Mental Health*, *13*(2), 312–324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-021-09418-w
- Newman, D. B., Tay, L., & Diener, E. (2014). Leisure and subjective well-being: A model of psychological mechanisms as mediating factors. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *15*(3), 555–578. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-013-9435-x
- Nienhuis, C. P., & Lesser, I. A. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on women's physical activity behavior and mental well-being. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(23), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17239036
- O'Connell, S. (1984). Recreation Therapy: Reducing the effects of isolation for the patient in a protected environment. *Children's Health Care*, *12*(3), 118–121.
- Palgi, Y., Shrira, A., Ring, L., Bodner, E., Avidor, S., Bergman, Y., Cohen-Fridel, S., Keisari, S., & Hoffman, Y. (2020). The loneliness pandemic: Loneliness and other concomitants of depression, anxiety and their comorbidity during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 275, 109–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.06.036
- Parry, D. (2007). "There is life after breast cancer": Nine vignettes exploring dragon boat racing for breast cancer survivors. *Leisure Sciences*, 29(1), 53–69.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400600983420
- Parry, D. (2013). Women's mental health and the power of leisure. In Freysinger, S. Shaw, K. Henderson, & D. Bialeschki (Eds.), *Leisure, women, and gender* (pp. 215–227). Venture Publishing.
- Parry, D., & Shaw, S. (1999). The role of leisure in women's experiences of menopause and mid-life.

 Leisure Sciences, 21(3), 205–218. https://doi.org/10.1080/014904099273101
- Patton, M. (2002). Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods. Sage Publications.

- Petruseviciene, D., Surmaitiene, D., Baltaduoniene, D., & Lendraitiene, E. (2018). Effect of community-based occupational therapy on health-related quality of life and engagement in meaningful activities of women with breast cancer. *Occupational Therapy International*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6798697
- Petty, L., & Trussell, D. E. (2021). Leisure self-care, health and well-being in women's lives. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 24(3), 328–339. https://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2019.1652661
- Pondé, M. P., & Santana, V. S. (2000). Participation in leisure activities: Is it a protective factor for women's mental health? *Journal of Leisure Research*, 32(4), 457–472. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2000.11949927
- Ponic, P., Reid, C., & Frisby, W. (2010). Cultivating the power of partnerships in feminist participatory action research in women's health. *Nursing Inquiry*, *17*(4), 324–335.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2021, December 14). *Mental health during the second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada*. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/diseases-conditions/infographic-mental-health-second-wave-covid-19-pandemic.html
- Puertas-Gonzalez, J. A., Mariño-Narvaez, C., Peralta-Ramirez, M. I., & Romero-Gonzalez, B. (2021). The psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on pregnant women. *Psychiatry Research*, 301, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.113978
- Reid, C. (2004). Advancing women's social justice agendas: A feminist action research framework.

 *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 3(3), 1–22.

 http://www.ualberta.ca/~iiqm/backissues/3 3/html/reid.html

- Reid, C., & Alonso, M. (2018). Imagining inclusion: Uncovering the upstream determinants of mental health through photovoice. *Therapeutic Recreation Journal*, *52*(1), 19–41. https://doi.org/10.18666/trj-2018-v52-i1-8461
- Reid, C., Landy, A., Leon, P., Benisius, D., Dean, L., Duckworth, K., Granger-Brown, A., Keller, S., Kennedy, S., Kinch, B., & Koci, A. (2013). Using community-based research to explore common language and shared identity in the therapeutic recreation profession in British Columbia, Canada. *Therapeutic Recreation Journal*, 47(2), 69–88.
- Rivera-Torres, S., Mpofu, E., Jean Keller, M., & Ingman, S. (2021). Older adults' mental health through leisure activities during COVID-19: A scoping review. *Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine*, 7, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1177/23337214211036776
- Rodríguez-Rey, R., Garrido-Hernansaiz, H., & Collado, S. (2020). Psychological impact and associated factors during the initial stage of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic among the general population in Spain. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*(1540), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01540
- Sato, T. (2001). Autonomy and relatedness in psychopathology and treatment: A cross-cultural formulation. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs*, *127*(1), 89–127.
- Schinke, R., Smith, B., & McGannon, K. (2013). Pathways for community research in sport and physical activity: Criteria for consideration. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 5(3), 460–468. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2013.846274
- Seaward, B. (2014). *Managing Stress: Principles and strategies for health and well-being*. Jones & Bratlett Learning.
- Shen, X., Macdonald, M., Logan, S. W., Parkinson, C., Gorrell, L., & Hatfield, B. E. (2022). Leisure engagement during COVID-19 and its association with mental health and wellbeing in U.S.

- adults. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031081
- Smith, B., & Sparkes, A. (2016). *Routledge handbook of qualitative research in sport and exercise*.

 Routeledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315762012.ch9
- Son, J. S., & Hutchinson, S. L. (2009). Conceptualizing leisure self-care in an exploratory study of American Indian elders' health beliefs and behaviours. *Leisure*, *33*(2), 479–509. https://doi.org/10.1080/14927713.2009.9651450
- Son, J. S., Nimrod, G., West, S. T., Janke, M. C., Liechty, T., & Naar, J. J. (2021). Promoting older adults' physical activity and social well-being during COVID-19. *Leisure Sciences*, 43(1–2), 287–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2020.1774015
- Statistics Canada. (2020, October 20). *Impacts on Mental Health*. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-631-x/2020004/s3-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2021, September 27). *Survey on COVID-19 and mental health*. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210927/dq210927a-eng.htm
- Taylor, E., Perlman, D., Moxham, L., Pegg, S., Patterson, C., Brighton, R., Sumskis, S., & Heffernan,
 T. (2017). Recovery camp: Assisting consumers toward enhanced self-determination.
 International Journal of Mental Health Nursing, 26(3), 301–308.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12227
- Taylor, S.E., Klein, L.C., Lewis, B.P., Gruenewald, T.L., Gurung, R.A., & Updegraff, J.A. (2000).Biobehavioural responses to stress in females: Tend-and-befriend, not fight-or-flight.Psychological Review, 107(3), 411-429.

- United Nations. (2020, May 13). *UN policy brief: COVID-19 and the need for action on mental health*. United Nations. https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/files/2020-05/UN-Policy-Brief-COVID-19-and-mental-health.pdf
- Vaccaro, M. (2020). Reflections on 'doing' participatory data analysis with women experiencing long-term homelessness. *Action Research*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476750320974429
- Vaughn, L., & Jacquez, F. (2020). Participatory research methods-choice points in the research process. *Journal of Participatory Research Methods*, *I*(1), 1–14.
- Wallerstein, N., & Duran, B. (2008). The theoretical, historical, and practice roots of CBPR. In M. Minkler & N. Wallerstein (Eds.), *Community-based participatory research for health: From process to outcomes* (pp. 25-46) John Wiley & Sons. doi:10.13140/RG.2.2.34282.72648
- White, C. M., Hutchinson, S., Gallant, K., & Hamilton-Hinch, B. (2020). Beyond the barriers: First-voice perspectives on facilitators of leisure participation. *Canadian Journal of Community*Mental Health, 39(1), 119–131. https://doi.org/10.7870/cjcmh-2020-008
- Wickens, C. M., McDonald, A. J., Elton-Marshall, T., Wells, S., Nigatu, Y. T., Jankowicz, D., & Hamilton, H. A. (2021). Loneliness in the COVID-19 pandemic: Associations with age, gender and their interaction. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *136*, 103–108.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.01.047
- Wolf, S., Seiffer, B., Zeibig, J. M., Welkerling, J., Brokmeier, L., Atrott, B., Ehring, T., & Schuch, F. B. (2021). Is physical activity associated with less depression and anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic? A rapid systematic review. *Sports Medicine*, *51*(8), 1771–1783. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-021-01468-z
- World Health Organization. (2019, n.d.). *Mental health: Fact sheet*. World Health Organization. https://www.euro.who.int/ data/assets/pdf_file/0004/404851/MNH_FactSheet_ENG.pdf

- World Health Organization. (2019, n.d.). *Mental health and substance use*. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/teams/mental-health-and-substance-use/overview
- World Health Organization. (2020, November 26). *Physical activity*. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/physical-activity
- Wright, L. J., Williams, S. E., & Veldhuijzen van Zanten, J. J. C. S. (2021). Physical activity protects against the negative impact of coronavirus fear on adolescent mental health and well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.580511
- Xiong, J., Lipsitz, O., Nasri, F., Lui, L. M. W., Gill, H., Phan, L., Chen-Li, D., Iacobucci, M., Ho, R., Majeed, A., & McIntyre, R. S. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 277, 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001
- Yap, J., McCartan, C., Davidson, G., White, C., Bradley, L., Webb, P., Badham, J., Breslin, G., & Best, P. (2020). An exercise intervention for people with serious mental illness: Findings from a qualitative data analysis using participatory theme elicitation. *Health Expectations*, *23*(6), 1579–1593. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13141
- Yukon Bureau of Statistics. (2020, August 19). *Impacts of COVID-19 on Yukon residents: mental health and perceptions of safety*. Yukon Government. https://yukon.ca/en/impacts-covid-19-yukon-residents-mental-health-and-perceptions-safety-may-2020
- Zheng, J., Morstead, T., Sin, N., Klaiber, P., Umberson, D., Kamble, S., & DeLongis, A. (2021).
 Psychological distress in North America during COVID-19: The role of pandemic-related stressors. *Social Science and Medicine*, 270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.113687

APPENDIX A

Ethics Approval

Notification of Approval

 Date:
 May 20, 2021

 Study ID:
 Pro00109096

 Principal Investigator:
 Lauren Ray

 Study Supervisor:
 Tara-Leigh McHugh

Study Title: COVID-19, Women's Mental Health and Therapeutic Recreation in Yukon Territory

Approval Expiry Date: May 19, 2022

Mitacs Accelerate Program

Sponsor/Funding Agency: Yukon Government

Canadian Mental Health Association-Yukon

RSO-Managed Funding:

Project ID Title Grant Status Sponsor Project Start Date Project End Date Purpose Other Information

RES0053270

Thank you for submitting the above study to the Research Ethics Board 1. Your application has been reviewed and approved on behalf of the committee.

Approved Documents:

Consent Forms

Consent Form rev 4 May 20 CLEAN

Questionnaires, Cover Letters, Surveys, Tests, Interview Scripts, etc.

Group-oriented analysis process info sheet, Version 1, May 19, 2021

Interview guide rev2 may 18 CLEAN

Any proposed changes to the study must be submitted to the REB for approval prior to implementation. A renewal report must be submitted next year prior to the expiry of this approval if your study still requires ethics approval. If you do not renew on or before the renewal expiry date, you will have to re-submit an ethics application.

Approval by the Research Ethics Board does not encompass authorization to access the staff, students, facilities, or resources of local institutions for the purposes of the research.

Approval by the Research Ethics Board does not encompass authorization to recruit and/or interact with human participants at this time. Researchers still require operational approval as applicable (e.g., AHS, Covenant Health, ECSD, etc.), and where in-person interactions are proposed, institutional and operational requirements outlined in the Resumption of Human Participant Research - June 24, 2020, must be met.

Sincerely,

Anne Malena, Ph.D.

Chair, Research Ethics Board 1

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system).

APPENDIX B

Consent Form

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA Informed Consent Form – Interview

You are invited to take part in the study: "COVID-19, Women's Mental Health and Therapeutic Recreation in Yukon Territory". Your participation is voluntary and is not required by any mental health program in which you may be involved.

Researchers: The study team includes:

Principle Investigator: Lauren Ray (<u>laray@ualberta.ca</u>). Lauren is a graduate student in the Faculty of Kinesiology, Sport, and Recreation

Investigator's Supervisor: Tara-Leigh McHugh (tara-leigh.mchugh@ualberta.ca).

Dr. McHugh is a Professor at the University of Alberta in the Faculty of Kinesiology, Sport, and Recreation.

This project is funded by Mitacs Accelerate Program, Yukon Government, and Canadian Mental Health Association-Yukon

Purpose and Procedures: This goal of this research is to help women's mental health during COVID-19. If you join in this study you will complete an interview in person, over the phone, or on Zoom. The interview will last around 1 hour. You will be asked about your experiences with mental health during COVID-19 and how you think leisure and recreation may help women. After the interview you will be invited to take part in an in-person group follow up conversation as an "Inclusion Researcher" to help develop the findings. **This follow up conversation is not mandatory.** If you are interested to join, it will take 2 hours of your time. We are hoping to have 5-10 people participate in this group conversation.

Will I be Paid to Participate?

The total time required of you for the study will be around 1 hour. Your time given to this research will be recognized by giving you a \$50 honorarium for your participation. Should you choose to take part in the follow up conversation, you will be given an additional \$50 honorarium.

Potential Risks: You may feel uncomfortable discussing your mental health during COVID-19. You are free to not answer any questions at any time. There is no penalty for not answering a question. If you would like to talk to a mental health professional you may contact the 24-hour Reach out Support Line (1-844-544-3030). In Yukon Territory, physical risks still remain due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Therefore, should participants choose to interview in person, physical distancing, mask-wearing, and hand sanitizing will be required. For participants who agree to participate as Inclusion Researchers all COVID-19 prevention measures will also be in place.

Potential Benefits: By joining this project, you may benefit by knowing that you have contributed to mental health services programs, and recreation programming for women. Some participants may experience no benefits for completing the study.

Confidentiality and Storage of Data: The following steps will be taken to protect your identity and the privacy of the experiences you share. Names or other identifying markers will not be discussed outside one-on-one interviews. Pseudonyms (made up names) will be used instead of real names in all study reports, presentations, and/or newsletters. Audio files and digital copies of transcripts, and consent forms will be stored on a password protected computer in Lauren Ray's office, and deleted after 5 years. If you chose to join in the follow up conversation as an Inclusion Researcher we cannot guarantee your anonymity due to the in-person group meeting. However, Lauren will review the confidentiality rules and the shared responsibility the group has to protect one another's privacy during this process. Inclusion Researchers will be asked not to share any information about the project outside of the group.

Right to Withdraw: You have the right to refuse to answer any question in the one-on-one interview. As well, joining in this study is voluntary and you may stop for any reason, without penalty, at any time. You will be able to keep your honorarium if you choose to end your participation in the study. You will have 30 days from the date of the interview to have any information you shared removed from the study and deleted from the research project.

Questions: If you have any questions about the study, please feel free to ask at any point. The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615 or at reoffice@ualberta.ca. As well, any questions you may have about this study may be directed to Lauren Ray or Dr. Tara-Leigh McHugh.

Consent to Participate:

I have read and understood the description provided above. I have been able to ask questions and my questions have been answered. I consent to participate in the study described above. I know that I may withdraw this consent at any time. A copy of this consent form has been given to me for my records.

I consent to the use of otter.ai for transcription (voice to text) by the research team. I understand that this program has been approved for use by the University as a safe, and secure, transcription software. I understand that all information will be permanently deleted from otter.ai once the transcript has been created.

Participant's Name (printed) and Signature	Date	
Name (printed) and Signature of Person Obtaining Consent	Date	

APPENDIX C

Community Advisory Board Letter of Invitation

COVID-19, WOMEN'S MENTAL HEALTH AND RECREATION THERAPY

Background of Project:

In early stages of the COVID-19 (C19) pandemic, resources were allocated to address physical health implications and mental health was broadly overlooked. Globally, women have experienced greater challenges to their wellbeing due C19. Women have experienced higher rates of C19 diagnosis, unemployment, domestic violence, caregiving responsibilities and have reduced access to social supports typically offsetting these factors. At present, it is not known how the mental health of women has been impacted by C19 in Yukon Territory.

Therapeutic Recreation recognizes leisure and recreation as integral to quality of life and utilizes these engagements to improve health outcomes. Therapeutic Recreation in the context of mental health offers improvements in stress-coping skills, self-esteem, social connectedness, resiliency, depressive and anxiety management, and community engagement. Understanding the impact of C19 on women's mental health and the role therapeutic recreation services may play as a protective factor is important for program providers and policy makers who are currently allocating resources and developing supportive services.

Project Objective:

The objective of this community-based research project is to support the women's mental health in Yukon Territory during C19.

Current Research Questions:

these questions can be refined and modified pending CAB consultation

- 1) What is the impact of C19 on the mental health of women in Whitehorse?
- 2) What role might Therapeutic Recreation play in supporting women's mental health during C19?

Role of the Community Advisory Board (CAB):

The role of the CAB is to shape and guide this research project to ensure meaningful and impactful outcomes for women who live with mental health issues in Yukon Territory. The CAB will guide all phases of this research project including:

- · Refining the research questions
- · Shaping and designing an interview guide
- Providing feedback on the knowledge generation process
- · Identifying appropriate participants and appropriate methods of recruitment
- · Supporting and shaping the interpretation of the results
- · Supporting and shaping the distribution of the results

Meetings will be chaired and facilitated by Project Leads. The CAB will advise and inform on all major decisions of the research project, however, final decisions will be made by the project leads as this project is connected to graduate study expectations outlined by the University of Alberta.

Commitment:

The CAB will be asked to meet once every three months for approximately 1.5 hours. Meetings will be held in person or via Zoom (to be determined by CAB). The project will commence as soon as the CAB is confirmed and will run until approximately December 2021. For those who wish to be more involved in the research process, opportunities to engage outside of the meetings will be made available.

Benefits

The CAB is paramount to the success of this project; their guidance and feedback will greatly support the relevance and impact of the project. This project provides an opportunity for individuals to gain exposure to community-based research and inform future programming provided at CMHA.

Project Contacts:

Lauren Ray Tara-Leigh McHugh Tiffanie Tasane
laray@ualberta.ca tmchugh@ualberta.ca ttasane@yukon.cmha.ca
University of Alberta Professor, University of Alberta Executive Director CMHA-Yukon

APPENDIX D

Recruitment Poster

Seeking women over 18 who have accessed any mental health service in the last year

To participate in a research study aiming to support women's mental health during COVID-19.

In partnership with the Canadian Mental Health Association, this community-based research project is asking:

1) What is the impact of COVID-19 on women's mental health in Yukon Territory?

2) What role might leisure and recreation play in supporting women's mental health during COVID-19?

Participation includes an **interview** lasting approximately **1 hour.** You will be asked about your mental health and leisure and recreation experiences.

The interview can be done **in person** or via **Zoom** or the **phone**. You will receive \$50 for your participation!

Interested? Looking for more information? Contact Lauren at laray@ualberta.ca

Principal Investigators: Lauren Ray & Dr. Tara-Leigh McHugh Study ID: Pro00109096



APPENDIX E

Interview Guide

Interview Guide

- Can you tell me a bit about yourself?
 Prompt: Demographic info (education level, employment status, gender identity, familial status, household income, etc.)
- 2. Tell me about your experience with COVID-19 so far.
- 3. Have you experienced any life changes because of COVID-19? If yes, how so? If no, do you see people close to you experiencing life changes? Prompt: Confirm life changes are directly related to C19
- 4. How have these life changes affected your mental health? If not personally, do you see people close to you experiencing set backs in their mental health due to these changes?
- What activities do you participate in? Prompt: Socialization? Working remotely? Scale 0-10
- 6. Why were you drawn to these activities?
- 7. What sorts of experiences and feelings do you have when you perform these activities?
- 8. Have these activities been positively or negatively impacted by COVID-19? How so?
- 9. What role do you think leisure and recreation play in supporting women's mental health during COVID-19?
- 10. Talk about how these activities contribute to your mental health.
- 11. What have we not discussed today, but you think is important to share?

APPENDIX F

Data Analysis Team Letter of Invitation

I hope this email finds you well and healthy.

You are receiving this email as you previously expressed interest in participating the in the analysis process of the research project titled: Women's Mental Health and COVID-19 in Whitehorse.

We have completed the interviewing stage of this research project, and are ready to move into the analysis process. We are seeking individuals to join our Data Analysis team. This role is more time consuming than the initial interview and is completely voluntary. There is no obligation to participate.

The following will be asked of the Data Analysis team:

- Initial meeting: This meeting will last at maximum 1 hour and may be online or in person (depending on
 the group). I can also meet separately with you if we cannot come to a consensus time. The initial meeting
 will review in detail the analysis process, and will culminate in the assigning of your transcript from your
 interview. No one else will read your transcript.
- 2) Individual analysis: After the initial meeting, you will be asked to read your transcript. Each transcript is between 10-15 pages long. We will ask you to read your transcript once from start to finish without taking notes. After your initial reading, you will read your transcript again, highlighting statements within the transcript you feel are important to answering the following questions:
 - a. What is the impact of COVID-19 on women's mental health?
 - b. What role might leisure and recreation have in supporting women's mental health in Whitehorse?

You will receive prompts to consider during the highlighting process. Once you have completed the highlighting process, you will assign one to two words that describe the highlighted statement. Then, you will cut the highlighted pieces into individual strips and write the one to two descriptive words on the back of the highlighted snippet. You will receive a package with all of the necessary materials and instructions for this process. This process can take approximately 2 hours, depending on personal reading and processing pace. You will have two weeks to complete this step before the group meeting.

- 3) Group analysis: After completion of the individual analysis, a group meeting will be set. The Data Analysis team will bring the individual highlighted snippets to the group meeting, where the group will describe and determine the major themes answering the questions. This meeting is set for a maximum 2 hours.
- 4) Group presentation of findings: Once the group analysis process is complete, all participants of the research project will be invited to a presentation where the Data Analysis team will share their findings and interpretations. We will consider feedback from all participants and integrate their feedback into the findings.

We are looking to start this process as soon as possible, and schedule the initial meeting **before the end of September.**

In recognition of the time commitment, we have set aside \$100 for participation on the Data Analysis team. You will be paid if you participate in stages 1-3 listed above.

If you have any questions whatsoever, please do not hesitate to ask.

APPENDIX G

Data Analysis Team Instruction Materials

Individual Analysis Instruction Sheet

Ren cell – 250-864-3203 please text/call me if you have any questions at all!!!

- 1. Read the entire transcript through once without taking ANY notes or doing any highlighting. This is to "immerse you" in the story.
- 2. Step away from the transcript for a while (e.g., an hour, a day) before the next step.
- 3. Read the transcript a second time. While reading, highlight SIGNFICANT statements that you think address the following two research questions:
 - a. How has COVID-19 affected women and their mental health?
 - b. How does leisure and recreation support women's mental health during the pandemic?
- 4. After a statement has been highlighted, think of 1-2 words that DESCRIBE the statement. You can write this word in the margin of the paper for now. This word will be called a "code" moving forward. Note: you can have multiple codes for one segment
- 5. After you have finished "coding" your transcript, cut out the highlighted segments. Write the code on the back of the strip of paper containing the highlighted statement. Include as much text as you need to preserve the context of the statement.

EXAMPLE PAGE

- The highlighted areas below are examples of a "segment"
- The bold words under the passage are examples of "codes"

Example 1:

"I like to do Tai Chi, stretch, do yoga. Like anything that maintains my health. Like eating clean food. Stay away from all junk food. I feel less tired. I work out with Cher's online videos. Like her three hour workouts. And it actually gave me more energy and I thought I'd be like tired but hers is like exciting. But the pandemic made it hard because you're alone. And you don't have anyone to do stuff with. Like when the pandemic locked us all down, what else can we do?"

Possible codes: Energizing, isolating, motivation

Example 2:

"I think women still deal with the brunt of like, the stress, right? And the majority of people you ask, I know because of myself and friends, they are doing so much more around the home, you know? Cooking dinner, and looking after kids, or whatever that is, and then also doing a full time job. I think the other thing that we don't really talk about a lot, and that maybe it's harder to like, quantify, is just those things that keep you up at night that your brain is consistently busy, because you're trying to figure out like, if you need milk, or who's going to what sports practice or what your friend said, or that it's your mom's birthday, and generally speaking, for better or worse, men don't think that way as much. But I think that is a big thing. I think women forget to prioritize their own self care. Slowly, you know, you hear about it. And it's kind of becoming, I guess, like a catchphrase, but I think it's very different to talk about it, and then to actually live it. How do you carve out those hours in your week that are just for you? Because you might be missing one of your kids sports practices or something like that. Or how do you kind of balance that."

Possible codes: societal expectations/norms, balance, choice, etc.